

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# Bank Manager Strategies to Retain Skilled Employees Beyond 5 **Years**

Lana Faye Martin Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Finance and Financial Management Commons

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Lana F. Martin

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

**Review Committee** 

Dr. Carol-Anne Faint, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Erica Gamble, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Patsy Kasen, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

# Abstract

Bank Manager Strategies to Retain Skilled Employees Beyond 5 Years

by

Lana F. Martin

MS, Strayer University 2013

BS, Strayer University 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2022

#### Abstract

The banking industry is fraught with low employee retention threatening the bank's ability to perform optimally. Bank managers who fail to implement strategies to retain skilled employees experience reduced productivity and increased turnover costs.

Grounded in the job embeddedness theory, the purpose of this qualitative single-case was to explore strategies bank managers use to minimize employees' intent to leave during downtimes in the banking industry. The participants were four employees of a Fortune 500 bank located in the U.S. in Virginia. Data were collected using semistructured interviews and a review of organizational employee handbooks. The six themes identified through a thematic analysis were merging of skillsets, reduction of turnover, strategy relevance, continuous training, incentives, and workplace culture. A key recommendation is for bank managers to acknowledge employees' achievements through monthly employee recognition and ongoing training, incentives, and workplace culture. The implications for positive social change include the potential to enhance the quality of life for skilled employees in the bank industry.

# Bank Manager Strategies to Retain Skilled Employees Beyond 5 Years

by

Lana F. Martin

MS, Strayer University 2013

BS, Strayer University 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2022

# Dedication

I dedicate this doctorate study to my father, mother, and two sisters, who are no longer here in body but with me in spirit. To my husband, who makes me feel like the luckiest woman on Earth, thank you so much for your patience, the meals you cooked, and your incredible support.

# Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my chair, Dr.

Carol-Anne Faint, for her continuous support during my doctorate study and research and her patience, motivation, enthusiasm, and immense knowledge. Her guidance, experience, and availability enabled me to complete the writing of this doctoral study.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for all the support and encouragement during my doctorate journey. My husband supported me and motivated me through many moments. I would like to thank my fellow learners for the many helpful discussions and knowledge sharing along the way.

# Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	7
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	8
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	9
	Significance of the Study	10
	Contribution to Business	. 10
	Implications for Social Change	. 10
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
	Job Embeddedness and Leader-Member Exchange Theories	. 13
	Alternative Theories	. 14
	Employee Retention	. 16
	Employee Trust	. 22

Effective Recruitment Strategies	28
Factors That Influence Job Satisfaction	31
Effects of Financial Crises on Employee Turnover	40
The Role of Management Retaining Employees During Crises	41
Effectiveness of Retention Strategies Utilized During the 2008 Financial	
Crisis	44
Transition	46
Section 2: The Project	48
Purpose Statement	48
Role of the Researcher	48
Participants	50
Research Method and Design	50
Research Method	50
Research Design	51
Population and Sampling	53
Ethical Research	55
Data Collection Instruments	56
Data Collection Technique	57
Data Organization Technique	59
Data Analysis	60
Reliability and Validity	62
Reliability	62

Validity 63
Transition and Summary65
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change
Introduction
Presentation of the Findings
Theme 1: Merging of Skillset
Theme 2: Reduction of Turnover
Theme 3: Strategy Relevance 82
Theme 4: Continuous Training
Theme 5: Incentives
Theme 6: Workplace Culture
Applications to Professional Practice
Implications for Social Change
Recommendations for Action
Recommendations for Further Research
Reflections
Conclusion
References
Appendix: Interview Questions

# List of Tables

Table 1. Frequency of Themes for Strategies to Retain Skilled Employees	. 71
Table 2. Participant Comments for Theme 1: Merging of Skillset	. 76
Table 3. Participant Comments for Theme 2: Reduction of Turnover	. 81
Table 4. Participant Comments for Theme 3: Strategy Relevance	. 87
Table 5. Participant Comments for Theme 4: Continuous Training	. 93
Table 6. Participant Comments for Theme 5: Incentives	. 96
Table 7. Participant Comments for Theme 6: Workplace Culture	100

# Section 1: Foundation of the Study

#### **Background of the Problem**

Employee retention is a vexing issue in the U.S. banking industry, especially since the Great Recession. The decline in employee retention in the bank industry during 2007 and 2008 was the result of factors such as downsizing by the government, cost-reduction strategies implemented due to public-personnel reforms, employment-at-will policies, and a decline in job security (Chordiya & Sabharwal, 2017). Decreased job stability caused some employees to resign (Zarate & Zambrano, 2018). The instability and resulting turnover made it more challenging for bank managers to retain skilled employees. Johnson and Lipsitz (2022), disclosed that the Great Recession was a period which the natural unemployment rate increased from 4.7% to 8.3%. Between 2007 and 2009, the federal minimum wage rose from 5.15 per hour to 7.25 per. Since the Great Recession, several states have increased their minimum wage based on a consensus that the labor market has deteriorated, especially for low-wage employees (Johnson & Lipsitz, 2022).

The financial crisis of 2008 sparked interest in the potential impact of crises on employee well-being, retention, and organizational productivity. As Montani et al. (2020) observed, economic distractions threaten employees' personal development goals and increase their stress, which can have an impact on organizational productivity and employees' individual decision to stay in their positions. Several researchers have studied factors contributing to employee retention and strategies for addressing it. For example, De Clercq et al. (2016) found that some bank leaders were using innovative behaviors of

individual employees to evaluate voluntary attrition, by exploring indicators such as employee age groups; internal promotion; and the implementation of new ideas, products, or processes. This focus is enmeshed more broadly in corporate social responsibility efforts. According to Taljaard and Beer (2019), corporate sustainability is a strategic approach with a simultaneous focus on economic, social, and environmental performance. In addition, strategic management should include a process that involves the management of a corporation's relationship with the government, financial institutions, contractors, customers, employees, and the surrounding community (Taljaard & Beer, 2019). Employees are key stakeholders and should therefore be a focal point of banking leaders' outreach efforts.

# **Problem and Purpose**

Many bank managers have difficulties retaining skilled employees beyond 5 years due to the employees' perception that the corporations they work for are no longer committed to them. Theodorsson et al. (2022) posited that if managers can retain committed and skilled employees, they may be better able to develop successful talent management strategies. Managers who apply effective talent management strategies give the organization a competitive advantage by allowing the discovery, development, and redeployment of skilled employees (Theodorsson et al., 2022). The general business problem was that banks that do not retain talent during crises might experience decreased business performance. The specific business problem was that some bank managers lack strategies to reduce turnover costs and retain skilled employees beyond 5 years.

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to determine the strategies that bank managers can use to reduce turnover costs and retain skilled employees beyond 5 years. I focused on managers who have a track record of retaining staff. The targeted population included all site leaders located in the southeastern region of the United States who had reduced turnover costs by at least 20% while retaining skilled employees. The implications for social change include increased banking performance, which may result in better outcomes for bank managers and employees, improved economic conditions, and stronger skillsets that are required in workplaces to generate revenue.

# **Nature of the Study**

Researchers can adopt a qualitative, quantitative, or mixed-methods approach when conducting research. Barnham (2015) disclosed that quantitative research studies include complex or methodological data retrieved from official organizational statistics, and a qualitative approach involves more subjective interpretation. Because the intent in the study was to explain behavior rather than quantify it, quantitative methods were not appropriate. Mixed-methods research includes both qualitative and quantitative approaches to exploit the strengths and complexity of a qualitative inquiry as well as representativeness and statistical power of a quantitative inquiry (Bennett et al., 2015). This approach was not utilized due to the need for inclusion of quantitative inquiry. I used the qualitative method because it was appropriate for this study. Vogl et al. (2018) stressed the added value of longitudinal studies that extend before and after the measurement utilized in experiments. This makes it possible to explore the changes and

processes associated with change or stability and interpret the perspective of the person experiencing that change (Vogl et al., 2018).

Qualitative researchers can select either a phenomenological, ethnographic, or case study design (Asmat et al., 2015). A phenomenological approach enables the researcher to obtain consistent information, and the literature review, the research question(s), and the methodology chosen to investigate the phenomenon are aligned (Kohler, 2016). I did not use this design because the focus of this study was not on lived experiences. An ethnographic design comprises a systemic study of unique groups of people. Anteby and Bechky (2016) discussed how ethnographers set out to achieve a specific goal in research, such as emerging trends in labor and employment This approach was also rejected because the intent was not to focus on ideologies or cultures. Instead, the aim was to evaluate the success of business strategies to the business strategies implemented by bank managers. The case study approach was identified as being suitable for the research. The primary focus of case study methodology is to compare, and contrast lived experiences (Pathiranage et al., 2020). Qualitative data analysis was utilized to identify themes, describe the differentiated content, and relate the material to similar cases to move from specific patterns to a more general state (Vogl et al., 2018).

### **Research Question**

What strategies do bank leaders use to reduce turnover costs and retain skilled employees beyond 5 years?

### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What strategies have you implemented to ensure that skilled employees are retained with the company beyond 5 years?
- 2. What strategies do you utilize to reduce turnover costs?
- 3. How do you determine the potential relevance and effectiveness of a strategy?
- 4. What continuous in-house or on-the-job training programs do you have in place?
- 5. What plans do you have to implement pilot programs to reduce the costs of training programs to upgrade employee skills during periods of employee attrition?
- 6. What incentives are offered to retain skilled employees who have been committed to the organization for more than 5 years?
- 7. What strategies do you utilize to reduce the costs associated with employee layoff procedures?
- 8. What additional information can you provide regarding the reduction of turnover costs and retaining skilled employees beyond 5 years?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

I used the job embeddedness theory and the concepts of leader-member exchange and conservation of resources as the framework for this study. Leader-member exchange represents an employee's positive relationship with their manager that motivates the employee to remain with an organization (Scandura & Graen, 1984). Hobfoll (1989, 2001) developed the conservation of resources theory. Zhang et al. (2019) explained this theory by observing that when people perceive that they have sufficient resources to meet the demands placed on them, they are unlikely to experience stress.

My intent was to contribute to the literature in three ways. First, I wanted to conceptualize voluntary turnover as an outcome of resource depletion while positioning job embeddedness, and leader-member exchange as resource-related constructs. I used the conservation of resources tenets to develop a coherent understanding of how social relations affect voluntary turnover. Second, I wanted to enhance the knowledge of job embeddedness involuntary turnover in the workplace. Third, I wanted to strengthen the importance of job embeddedness involuntary turnover in the workplace.

Researchers (Robinson et al., 2017, Shang et al., 2017) have focused on the psychological mechanisms through which interpersonal factors account for voluntary turnover. During economic changes, the response to antecedents of job embeddedness in the work environment is affected by what the employees perceive as valuable. Zhang et al. (2019) posited that on-the-job embeddedness entails two factors that keep individuals in their jobs: links (e.g., formal and informal connections with the organization and other staff) and fit (e.g., the match with the work environment). Zhang et al. perceived sacrifice as a loss a person may experience by resigning. Employees who feel a link to an organization value the resources and the company culture (Zhang et al., 2019). Job embeddedness was a critical element of the conceptual framework for this research study. In using it, I sought to improve understanding of why employees remain with the organization. This knowledge may enable bank leaders to develop strategies to retain skilled employees.

# **Operational Definitions**

Corporate social responsibility: Corporate strategies that are intended to further social welfare; they provide a sense of commitment that increases an employee's identification with the organization and fulfills their desire for meaning and purpose at work (Carlini et al., 2019).

*Employee flexibility*: The ability to adjust interdependencies and respond to disruptive corporate turbulence (Schriber et al., 2019).

Organizational learning capacity: An organizational structure that allows employees the ability to explore, create, organize, and adapt knowledge, skills, and routines with a view to fostering sustainable competitive advantages (Ning & Li, 2018).

Strategic group: Firms in the same industry that are highly symmetrical about their cost structure, degree of vertical integration, product differentiation, formal organization, control systems, management remuneration and sanctions, and their personal views and preferences with respect to various possible results (Brattstrom & Faems, 2020).

#### **Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations**

The assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the study influenced how the study was conducted and highlight the potential weaknesses or gaps within the study, which might (a) require additional future research or (b) undermine the results. I discussed the methods that I took to mitigate any potential negatives associated with this study's assumptions, limitations, and delimitations, and I provide suggestions for future research if and where mitigation attempts prove insufficient.

# **Assumptions**

Assumptions refer to generally accepted facts that cannot be confirmed (Hancock & Algozzine, 2017).-The first assumption was that all the participants were honest and open in their answers during the interviews. The second assumption was that the participants would be willing to partake in the study because they realized how their participation could benefit attempts to mitigate organizational theft and improve business profits and practices. I assumed that using three sources for data collection, namely interviews, practical observations, and policy and practice documentation, would be sufficient for ensuring study validity (see Noble & Smith, 2015). The third assumption was that the sample size of at least three to five bank managers was sufficient for gathering the necessary data, as per case study and saturation requirements (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Lewis, 2015; Yin, 2017). The fourth assumption was that practices such as reflexivity (in which researchers reflect on their potential biases), member checking (whereby interviewees review and confirm the meaning and accuracy of interview data), and use of multiple data sources mitigated the researcher bias (see Noble & Smith, 2015). Based on the participants' perspectives, their responses to the interview questions, and their management experiences during economic downtimes, I collected the data.

#### Limitations

Limitations refer to any aspects of the study that might undermine or weaken the results (Hancock & Algozzine, 2017). This study's methodology means that, while I might gain in-depth and valuable data, the findings might be less generalizable than those of quantitative studies (see Bryman, 2016; Noble & Smith, 2015). The perspectives,

insights, and practices gleaned from the study sample would relate only to the individual participants, the specific study location, and the participants' companies, and might not be representative of the larger population (see Lewis, 2015; Noble & Smith, 2015). Researcher bias might also limit the study (Noble & Smith, 2015). Although I made attempts to mitigate it, bias cannot be entirely eradicated (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The results of this study might contain biased or swayed findings and interpretations that might undermine the overall study validity (Noble & Smith, 2015).

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations refer to the scope (e.g., what the researcher has chosen to include or omit) of the study (Hancock & Algozzine, 2017). I did not consider employee arbitration, such as that related to discrimination, or retirement based on age in this study. This delimitation was required to ensure that I remain focused; that the topic and population of the study not be too broad, thereby potentially convoluting the study process; and that the noted gap regarding the need for the development of strategies to retain skilled employees remain the primary focus. I limited the study participants to managers of the bank industry to ensure a clear focus on the strategies and knowledge utilized to mitigate the retention of skilled employees. Future research could be done with a larger sample to broaden the study. Another delimitation is that the study took place in the southeastern region of the United States. This delimitation was a practical one, which was related to my location and access to potential study organizations and participants.

# **Significance of the Study**

#### Contribution to Business

The results of this study may provide information regarding strategies that bank managers can employ to retain skilled employees beyond 5 years. Osei et al. (2017) noted that effective commitment results in an emotional attachment of an employee to an organization. Employees who remain in an organization with a robust commitment usually retain their positions based on their contribution to the stability and continuity of the organization (Osei et al., 2017). This study had two primary goals: first, to expose individual mechanisms and link these to the employee's commitment to the organization, and second, to investigate the mediating role of management strategies in employee organizational commitment and individual mechanisms. Loyalty is a critical variable that contributes to a good working relationship between employees and their organization (Ndlovu et al., 2021). I explored the determinants of organizational commitment and whether the degree of organizational trust affects the employee's commitment. From an organizational perspective, managers are concerned about retaining the best employees and those who remained productive after layoffs (Zatrick et al., 2015). Therefore, the leadership of the bank industry may gain an understanding of how individuals can increase job security and reduce layoffs from the study.

### **Implications for Social Change**

The implications for positive social change include gaining a better understanding of the effective strategies required to retain employees to serve the community. Van Zyl et al. (2017) posited that there is a need for the identification of best practices in talent

management. Sahoo et al. (2017) noted that training interventions play a significant role in attitudinal change, improved morale, and improved expertise of existing employees. Financial success, while sustaining employees within a competitive environment, involves considerable competence (Sahoo et al., 2017). For example, if employees can develop a complex mentality while learning to embrace the challenges of relationship building, they acquire the skills needed to enhance their capabilities in terms of managing the varied needs and preferences of the employees of the organization and community (Sahoo et al., 2017). A focus on strategies that are flexible increases confidence, whereas knowledge results in improved employee performance and reduced turnover during economic change (Sahoo et al., 2017).

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Organizations invest in their employees' induction and training and in developing, maintaining, and retaining them. The retention of skilled talent has been the prime challenge for the U.S. bank industry after the financial crisis of 2008 (Mikheeva & tonurist,2019). Numerous researchers have identified the factors impacting employee retention in many bank industries, including in the United States. Some of these factors are training, motivation, and development (Boudreaux, 2021). The longer the employee remains committed to the organization, the more significant the company's competitive advantage becomes (Boudreaux, 2021). As such, managers need to minimize employee turnover. Bank managers in the United States need to acquire the necessary skills to retain employees beyond 5 years. Retaining employees beyond 6 to 12 months after hiring is more cost-effective to financial organizations, especially after the effects of the

recent financial crisis and pandemic to the business acumen. Training, stock options, insurance and retirement benefits are essential to the initiation of strategies and the retention of employees 5 years and beyond (Mikheeva & Tonurist, 2019).

I conducted a literature review to acquire an overview of retention strategies. The material reviewed included peer-reviewed articles and journals, books, dissertations, websites, and corporate and government reports. The specific focus areas included professionals in the U.S. banking industry, turnover in the banking industry, the cost of turnover, retention in the banking industry, retention strategies, compensation and reward, training and development, work-life balance, organizational culture, qualitative research methods, case study research, and general systems theory.

The literature review provides an understanding of how people respond to change in the workplace and of previous researchers' findings on the strategies that leaders have implemented in the past and their degree of effectiveness. I identified two problems that affected the retention of employees and business continuity in the banking industry: the threat of the financial crisis of 2008 and the effects of COVID-19. The reviewed literature encompasses perceived retention processes and their effectiveness during and after adverse conditions, and how those perceptions may affect employees' organizational commitment. The information in this literature review could assist managers to resolve issues that affect layoffs and to develop employee retention strategies. These problems negatively affect the retention of skilled employees, costs associated with turnover, employee motivation, and employee commitment to the organization.

The primary research databases and search engines searched included ProQuest Central, Business Source Complete, Google Scholar, and SAGE. I accessed the databases from Walden University Library. My primary keywords were *organizational culture*, *strategies*, *skilled*, *stability*, *recruitment*, *job satisfaction*, *continuity*, *commitment*, *talent management*, *training*, *turnover*, and *retention*. The total number of all sources in each category was two books, 87 journals and articles, two government and corporate reports, and eight websites. Of the 99 sources, (95%) were published within the past 5 years, of which 95 were peer-reviewed. The literature review includes 87 peer-reviewed journal articles, all of which were published within the past 5 years. I provided a detailed exploration of the lived experiences of bank managers who developed strategies to retain skilled employees during economic down time that affected business continuity. The purpose of the literature review is to offer the reader knowledge of the influences and factors that affect turnover in the U.S. banking industry and the strategies that bank managers utilize to decrease employee attrition.

#### **Job Embeddedness and Leader-Member Exchange Theories**

The intention is to contribute to the literature in three ways. First, I want to conceptualize voluntary turnover as an outcome of resource depletion, while positioning job embeddedness, workplace ostracism, and leader-member exchange as resource-related constructs. Conservation of resources tenets were utilized to develop a coherent understanding of how social relations affect voluntary turnover. The role of job embeddedness in voluntary turnover in the workplace is made explicit.

Previous researchers (Robinson et al., 2017; Shang et al., 2017) have focused on the psychological mechanisms through which interpersonal factors account for voluntary turnover. In instances of economic change, the response to the antecedents of job embeddedness in the work environment is affected by what the employees perceive as valuable. Zhang et al. (2019) posited that on-the-job embeddedness consists of two factors that keep individuals in their jobs: links (e.g., formal and informal connections with the organization and other staff) and fit (e.g., unity with the work environment). Zhang et al. (2019) perceived sacrifice as the loss that an employee might experience by resigning. In addition, employees who feel connected to an organization value the resources and feel that they are a good fit with the job and the company culture and have a strong desire to protect the company's resources (Zhang et al., 2019). Job embeddedness was a key element of the conceptual framework for this study. Using it, I sought to improve bank managers' knowledge of why employees stay with the organization and the skills required to develop strategies to retain the skilled employees.

#### **Alternative Theories**

#### Social Exchange Theory

Turnover is costly when both seasoned employees and newcomers leave the company, given the expensive process of recruitment, selection, and training (Rubenstein et al., 2019). Among the variety of theories relating to social identity, work motivation, employee equity, and expectancy, the social exchange theory has been the most widely used to gain an understanding of social behavior and interactions (Khan et al., 2020).

According to the social learning theory (Bandura, 1977), behavioral learning is a two-

way process in which leaders learn from employees and vice versa. The relationship between leaders and followers is made up of a certain amount of give and take (Emerson, 1976). Kahn et al. (2020) posited that social interactions involve assessing the benefits and costs of each relationship. The role of leadership in organizations is critical to understanding the behaviors of employees (Kahn et al., 2020). Because the focus of this study was on leadership styles and how leaders affect employee behaviors, the social exchange theory was not applicable.

# Equity Theory and Job Satisfaction Theory

Job satisfaction is a pleasurable emotional state resulting from a positive appraisal of one's job or job experiences (Locke, 1976). According to equity theory (Adams, 1963, 1965), employees' job satisfaction depends on the ratio between outcomes received for and inputs invested into one's work. Employees need to feel satisfied that what they receive from their organization is in proportion to what they give to the organization (Kollmann et al., 2020).

There have been mixed findings related to the assumptions of the equity theory based on age, monetary rewards, and task contributions (Kollmann et al., 2020).

According to Kollmann et al. (2020), job satisfaction theories, particularly, the equity theory, do not consider employees ages and how they impact job dissatisfaction among employees. Psychological changes are likely to affect how younger and older employees react to traditional antecedents of job satisfaction (Kollmann et al., 2020). Younger employees tend to be satisfied by monetary rewards, whereas older employees are satisfied primarily by their task contributions (Kollmann et al., 2020). Equity theory was

rejected because the age-dependent impacts on job satisfaction have important theoretical and practical implications. However, there is little proof that addressing these issues is enough to ensure employee commitment to an organization (Kollmann et al., 2020).

# **Employee Retention**

There is an increasing need for an effective employee retention strategy to enhance competitive advantage in the banking industry. Various demographic changes and skills shortages have significantly impacted the need to retain employees in the 21st century. According to Khalid and Nawab (2018), factors related to global economics, technological changes, and trade agreements affect employee-employer relationships. Previously, the employee's loyalty was the foundation of such relationships (Singh, 2019). However, the changing corporate environment has increased labor competition and turnover. The poaching of employees by competitors has become a considerable threat to organizations' competitiveness in both the global and local markets. Leaders need to devise effective employee retention strategies to enhance the organization's competitiveness.

The concept of permanent employees has become unheard of in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Khalid and Nawab (2018) indicated that relationships between employees and employers have fundamentally changed, with both parties failing to guarantee long-term commitment. According to Lee and Chen (2018), the retention of productive employees has become a significant concern, leading organizations and their human resources departments to formulate effective strategies to enhance the recruitment and retention of the talents and skills required by the organization's labor demands.

However, devising effective retention strategies can be challenging. Kurdi and Alshurideh (2020) found that 75% of human resources management departments in the United States stated that employee retention was their main challenge. Talent management is a term used within most organizations to explain the human resources practices which facilitate succession planning. Talent management involves the identification, retention and development of skilled employees (Jindal & Shaikh, 2021). In contrast to talent management succession plaining encompasses the strategic needs of the organization (Jindal & Shaikh, 2021).

The job embeddedness theory impacts how researchers and business leaders understand workplace culture, motivation, and retention of skilled employees. Suhall et al. (2021) posited that managers must first determine the challenge before developing strategies to decrease attrition and increase retention. The common theme in the literature is leadership adapting skills to develop strategies to remain competitive in the banking industry. Another common theme is open communication and the effectiveness of transparent managers through continuous training and open communication with the employees. Lee et al. (2022) remarked that organizational embeddedness is an influence that keeps employees committed to their current organization. The common theme in the literature is employee commitment, and retention can drive value if the bank managers invest in the careers through continuous training and incentives.

A crucial factor to consider is that bank managers must believe in developing strategies for talent management of skilled employees. Ahn and Menichini (2022) posited that the economic impact of COVID-19 lingers with the speed of recovery still uncertain.

Talent management and innovation strategies are mentioned in the academic literature review as deliberate strategies bank managers can use to influence more adaptive behaviors of employees. One of the essential elements mentioned in the literature is innovation strategies and how bank managers can increase the commitment to the organization through incentives. For example, Caleb et al. (2021) noted that employees view incentives as a means of showing how much organizational leaders value them. Stensholt and Rattner (2022) discussed how offering competitive salaries becomes an attractive incentive to gain the employee's loyalty. Researchers have explained how managers could increase commitment and decrease turnover by offering competitive salaries.

Singh (2019) predicted that, due to increasing labor competition in the global and local markets, most firms are likely to abandon their expensive employee recruitment procedures and adopt less-expensive employee retention strategies that enable the managers to retain their valuable talents. Lee and Chen (2018) further argued that even competitive companies that were traditionally shielded from labor competition must adopt effective retention strategies to prevent their valuable and scarce talents and skills from departing. The primary aim of employee retention is not to maintain employees throughout their working life, but rather to enhance the achievement of organizational goals and the firm's competitiveness (Lee & Chen, 2018).

Employees' increasing competitiveness has made it easy to leave their positions for better posts (Khalid & Nawab, 2018). However, high employee turnover has a destructive effect on business performance. Lee and Chen (2018) explained that,

regardless of the type of source from which a firm recruit, recruitment success depends on human resource strategies regarding recruitment, selection, and employee retention. Lee and Chen (2018) insisted that there is a need for good employee management and retention to enhance the employee's productivity for as long as the organization needs them. A stable workforce enhances a company's competitive advantage. A failure to devise effective retention strategies increases the costs of recruitment, training, supervision, overtime, and orientation (Lee & Chen, 2018). Neglecting talented employees also significantly affects an organization's competitiveness. Singh (2019) found that employees usually leave their workplace due to underpayment, lack of motivation, low job satisfaction, and age. Talented employees usually enhance firms' competitiveness due to their high-quality customer service, creativity, functional and technical knowledge, organizational learning, commitment to attaining the organizational goals, and self-direction.

Losing talented, skilled, and experienced employees poses a significant threat to organizations. It limits their ability to attain their goals and maintain their competitiveness in the marketplace (Khalid & Nawab, 2018). Talented employees enhance customer service effectiveness and influence changes among other employees, managers, and other stakeholders. Gifted employees who resign might be absorbed by the competitors, posing a significant threat competitiveness (Singh, 2019).

Continuity is another fundamental reason for which managers of banks and other organizations should focus on retaining their employees. Without continuity, organizations fail to maintain significant relationships with their clients and customers,

which in turn compromises their ability to compete in both the global and local markets (Signh, 2019). According to Lee and Chen (2018), longevity equips the organizations with a powerful advantage in the form of depth knowledge. Khalid and Nawab (2018) indicated that organizations face difficulties in replacing competent employees with others who have comparable competence. The difficulty of replacing talented employees increases the organization's need to retain its employees for long periods.

To retain skilled employees for more than 5 years, bank managers should ensure proper training and provide some development opportunities for both existing and new employees. According to Behravesh et al. (2020), adequate training and opportunities trigger the employee's willingness to work with the given organization. If employees are not engaged in opportunities to catch up with their new job requirements, they become frustrated and risk making errors. Such employees become tempted to resign. For instance, statistics indicate that most of the banking industries in Ghana have failed to retain their employees due to the failure to adhere to their employee's eagerness to develop their career and skills through training (Adomako & Nguyen, 2020).

Bank managers should always provide training services and career development opportunities to attract and retain more skilled employees. Employees usually have some ambition to develop their skills and career when promoted, and they tend to appreciate any training programs their organization provides (Frega, 2021). Employers who want to retain their employees should always establish broader opportunities for career development, personal involvement in activities conducive to the achievement of some

common good, and policy implementation that contributes to setting and achieving the goal (Frega, 2021).

Employees should have a measure of control over what they are expected to do and at what time to enable a good work-life balance. The concept of work-life balance is an increasingly popular topic when discussing employment and commitment (Jaharuddin & Zalnol, 2019). The employee can facilitate effectiveness through job satisfaction and decreased personal and work-life tension. Work-life balance is critical in achieving employees' psychological, emotional, and cognitive stability, which promotes organizational effectiveness (Jaharuddin & Zalnol, 2019). Ensuring work-life balance by formulating appropriate policies and procedures facilitates job satisfaction and it motivates employees to remain in their jobs. Bank managers can ensure work-life balance in their organizations by implementing the appropriate policies, actions, and procedures, which in turn improve employee performance (Verma & Bagga, 2019). These might include alternative work plans, flexible working hours, leave programs, childcare facilities, family care responsibilities, and financial assistance for childcare, among other employee-friendly policies. Employees in organizations where the managers do not manage working hours tend to seek for alternative jobs at organizations that allows them time for their social obligations. Sindhuja and Subramanian (2020) demonstrate that many work-family misunderstandings are caused by the working hours and the leave policies of various organizations.

Organizational values and beliefs also play a significant role in employee retention (Behravesh et al. 2020). Discrepancies between an organization and its

employees' values and belief can lead to high employee turnover. Previous researchers have posited that it is worthwhile for an organization's managers to consider their employees' religions because beliefs, norms, and values contribute to workplace interaction (Heliot et al., 2020). The individual managers can affect the employees' ability and motivations to display behaviors related to religion at work (Heliot et al., 2020). For example, a Christian is motivated to be empathetic when counseling clients and patients (Heliot et al., 2020). Bank managers could learn to develop skills to identify compatibility or unity between the employees and the organization's values and beliefsd beliefs to prevent employee turnover (Heliot et al., 2020).

# **Employee Trust**

Bank managers should establish the trust of their employees if they want to retain them for more than 5 years. Unlike the dismal image of the highly monitored workplace, trusting employees in a work environment enables them to demonstrate initiative.

Bahadur et al. (2020) have revealed that when the employees trust the organization's values, they are more engaged, suffer less stress and illness, and have more energy at work. suffer less stress, illness, and boast more energy at work. Employees in a trusting environment feel free to deliver their best performance in their daily work. When employees are convinced that their voices matter, they find it easy to speak their minds. This openness generates new ideas, and employees who feel that they are trusted by their employers and managers remain focused on building their organization (Bahadur et al., 2020). Bank managers need to take necessary steps to achieve a trust culture in their organizations.

#### Hire With the Whole Person in Mind

Trust in an organization often results from genuine relationships among the staff. Keller (2018) disclose that promoting internal employees is less expensive, and the employee is less likely to fail in their new role. Bank managers should look for employees who are willing to contribute all their interests, passion, and affinities, among other qualities (Keller, 2018). Critical differences between posting and slotting are that the posting process generates a large pool of candidates, allowing bank managers the opportunity to identify and evaluate candidates during various stages of the interview process. Job slotting is the number of jobs ads you can post. The type of jobs slotted can differ as often as the organization needs (Keller, 2018). Posting is a market-based process in which a manager posts an open job and invites interested candidates to apply, resulting in higher-quality hires (Keller, 2018). Bank managers should invite their skilled employees to contribute to the running of the organization which will aid them in building lasting trust relationships with the employees. The result of ongoing trust improves the employees' satisfaction; the employees are more inclined to remain in the organization for an extended period.

### Be Transparent and Vulnerable

According to Oino (2019), bank managers should set an example for their employees. For instance, if they want their employees to be at work, they must be at work. While privacy should be respected, bank managers should be open to learn about their employees' interests and everyone should know what is transpiring in the organization. This builds a stronger foundation of trust because the employees feel

included. If employees are informed about the organization's successes as well as the difficulties, they feel empowered to play their role.

# Reward Intelligent Risks and Failures

Bank managers should always appreciate their skilled employee's intelligent risk-taking, even when they fail. Fear breeds mistrust in employees. If they fear repercussions for failures, they show resistance to taking on risky tasks. Bank managers should celebrate intelligent risks, even if they fail. Mathafena and Grobler (2020) disclosed that risk-taking behaviors are associated with organizational learning, capability, innovation, and improved organizational performance. The building of trust in an organization result in the identification of opportunities in the market environment leading to product, process, and strategy adaptations geared towards value-added business improvement and growth (Mathafena & Grobler, 2020). Employees whose decisions and performance are trusted by their managers remain at the organization where innovation, experimentation, and risk-taking are encouraged (Mathafena & Grobler, 2020).

#### Prepare to Diversify

The global and remote workforce has become increasingly diverse. Diversity management motivates employees to perform at their best to achieve a high level of productivity which leads to improved profitability due to employees' innovativeness. Bank managers should establish trust between the various nationalities by offering cultural training, in which bias, collaboration, and the practical realities of sharing the workplace are discussed (Omoyele & Olabisi, 2020). When the skilled employees in the banking industry receive rewards for adopting a diverse way of thinking, their innovation

is celebrated. Cultural sensitivity also reduces unnecessary risks among the employees (Omoyele & Olabisi, 2020). Bank managers should always ensure that there is excellent preparation to deal with diversity in the whole organization if they want to retain their employees.

### Listen to Employees

Bank managers should listen to their skilled employees' ideas. The employees thereby feel more valued by their managers, resulting in increased commitment to the organization. Cable (2018) disclosed that employees would do more for you when you help them grow, try new things and find more meaning in their lives. When the employees are respected, they become motivated, which contributes to the smooth running of the organization. Suppose bank managers provide a feeling of caring about the work of their employees. The employees want to help the manager because the manager helped them (Cable, 2018). Bank managers who always listen to their employees engender trust in the organization, which increase the managers' ability to retain skilled employees.

Bank managers should listen to their skilled employees' ideas. The employees thereby feel more valued by their managers, resulting in increased commitment to the organization. Cable (2018) disclosed that employees would do more for you when you help them grow, try new things and find more meaning in their lives. When the employees are respected, they become motivated, which contributes to the smooth running of the organization. Supportive bank managers provide a feeling of caring about the work of their employees. The employees develop the desire to help the manager

because the manager helped them (Cable, 2018). Bank managers who always listen to their employees engender trust in the organization, which increases the managers' ability to retain skilled employees.

Previous researchers have pointed out various advantages of developing effective employee retention strategies. Firstly, Lee and Chen (2018) demonstrates that such strategies enable firms to evade the cumbersome employee hiring process when replacing employees. According to Yousuf and Siddiqui (2019), hiring employees is a time-consuming and cumbersome process that includes updating and advertising vacant positions, reviewing applicant's resumes, interviewing and screening prospective employees, contacting references, extending job offers, running background checks, conducting legal paper works, contacting rejected applicants and onboarding the new employees. Lee and Chen (2018) found that it took about 6 weeks to fill a vacant position. Retaining employees enable banks and other organizations to evade this process and focus on other organization's issues.

Second, employee retention enables organizations to evade the high turnover cost of replacing the employees. Khalid and Nawab (2018) note that organizations spend about 50% of their annual salary when recruiting new employees, which can rise to about 250% when recruiting experienced employees. These costs include the expenses of employee onboarding and alignment with the organization's culture. Retaining employees helps organizations to evade these costs and keep their operational costs low.

Third, retaining employees enables the organization to preserve beneficial skills and knowledge. Yousuf and Siddiqui (2019) indicate that experienced employees have

enterprise, institutional, and other forms of knowledge that enhance their performance.

Retaining employees enables organizations to maintain this knowledge and their competitiveness in the marketplace.

Fourth, employee retention enhances teamwork in organizations, which in turn increases organizational performance. Yousuf and Siddiqui (2019) argue that employee retention leads to greater productivity, enhances customer services, increases employee engagement, improves employee satisfaction, and increases revenue. These benefits enable organizations to increase their efficiency and compete effectively in the marketplace.

Employee retention is a significant challenge that is facing both public and private organizations worldwide. This challenge has been caused by increased competition and the demand for highly skilled employees. Recently, the bank industry has been faced with high labor turnover, whereby employees have often quit their jobs because better opportunities are offered by another bank. According to Khalid and Nawab (2018), the increased rate of employee turnover is also due to longer working hours, unreliable leadership style, poor working conditions, job insecurity, increased workload, wage dissatisfaction, and a lack of work-life balance, among others. Statistics show that the above factors have contributed much to the increased number of skilled employees leaving their jobs to find new opportunities, especially in the banking industry. The emergence of new banking sectors has been both a curse and a blessing for some stakeholders. First, an increase in financial institutions has resulted in high competition for skilled human resources. Secondly, increased competition has positively contributed

to the production of high-quality goods and services. However, increased competition has negatively influenced some financial institutions, such that it has led to the closure of some banks.

Employees need to be challenged in their work to keep them motivated. Otherwise, managers and leaders find it difficult to retain them. Retaining employees does not mean that the hired employee remains in the same position until they retire; it rather means encouraging them to aspire to take on increased responsibility instead of searching for other advancement opportunities in other companies. According to Yadav (2019), each organization should give its employees an opportunity for professional development, succession planning, and training that provides employment opportunities to assume roles with increased responsibility. This can be used to improve employee retention and minimize turnover. Bank managers should focus on retaining employees who perform better and not merely retain employees irrespective of their performance. Managers should also understand the needs of the employees and implement effective retention strategies. Investing in employee development, training employees, motivating, and appreciating employees have a significant role in retaining employees and preventing turnover. Bank managers who implement this strategy are in position to retain their employees for more than 5 years.

## **Effective Recruitment Strategies**

Bank managers should recruit qualified employees to ensure effective management in the organization. They should consider hiring the right people for the right jobs for the organization's benefit. Recruiting employees who best fit their culture,

mission, and objectives enhance employees' increased commitment and retention. Human resource..e personnel can achieve appropriate recruitment by concentrating on talent, an opportunity for a career, personal development, recognition, and the prospective employee's possible contribution to the organization. Proper induction programs should be established for new employees. A formal induction program builds a strong foundation for both the employees and the organization. In some organizations, leaders do not have an induction program for the new staff members, who become confused because they lack information about their workplace. According to Yadav (2019), a lack of initiating programs can be considered a loss of time and capital, and the organizational value. Every organization should create induction programs since they have long-term benefits, particularly increased employee retention and increased productivity. It also makes the recruited employee feel part of the organization, builds an employee's confidence, and enhances their commitment to the organization. Kurdi and Alshurider (2020) argue that well-trained employees always perform their duties with enthusiasm and fulfill their responsibilities.

Additionally, managers should motivate the employees to reinforce the organization by raising their confidence. Motivation attracts, retains, and maintains an organization's competitiveness. Motivated employees are happy with their responsibilities. They tend to finish their tasks in time and more efficiently than unmotivated employees. Motivation directly affects performance; the motivated high-performance worker works hard to provide quality and valuable work. Yadav (2019 assert that "if managers neglect motivation, then organizational leaders may drain their

valuable employees." The focus of the bank managers becomes a focus on internal investment only. Some organization managers prepare the newly recruited employee for the current job instead of long-term development, which would entail ensuring that the employee is a fit for both the current position and a future career within the organization. Internal talent investment inspires and motivates employees to stay with the company. According to Kurdi and Alshurider (2020), the training of employees leads to increased performance and improves their talent, which makes them fit for industry competition. Ohunakin et al. (2020) demonstrate that employees' training is directly associated with their commitment to the organization and turnover. Internal investment is one of the best retention strategies, since the employee wants to work hard and excel. The training and development of employees that is aligned with organizational goals helps to meet the company's leaders and staff's needs, reducing turnover. According to Yadav (2019), training employees builds the employee's loyalty and commitment, and develops a learning path within the organization. Kurdi and Alshurider (2020) state that "talent retention assures that organizations have the right people with the required skills and abilities to initiate and achieve business strategies." The plan involves developing employees to become high performers and actively support the organization. Such plans are developing employee retention strategies. According to Ohunakin et al. (2020), an employee retention strategy involves defining the managers' practical goals to encourage employees to remain with the company. Bank managers with effective retention strategies help the organization to retain its employees for at least 5 years.

Managers formulate employee retention strategies to reduce employee turnover. The implementation involves a recorded framework of when, what, and who. Kurdi and Alshurider (2020) assert that mastering the strategies used to maintain employees is much more important than investigating why and the employee ends up being employed in that a particular since the managers implement strategies that guarantee quality services, the workplace ends up being more collaborative. In companies with high employee retention, researchers tend to research how the company has refined retention strategies to retain employees. Yadav (2019) states that the manager's ability to understand the need for an employee and contribute towards it can affect an employee's decision to remain in such an organization. The study may provide managers with useful knowledge regarding the ways and strategies used in the banking sector to retain employees.

### **Factors That Influence Job Satisfaction**

Job satisfaction affects employees' loyalty, performance, and retention. There has recently been a rapid increase in job satisfaction-related studies. Many organizations have realized the crucial link between job satisfaction and employee retention. The complexities of human nature complicate the issue. Some studies clearly show that job satisfaction is associated with employees' desire to leave an organization (Irabor & Okolie, 2019). Employees who are satisfied in their jobs become less likely to resign than those who are dissatisfied.

Although job satisfaction, absenteeism, and labor turnover are negatively related, there is a positive relationship between job satisfaction and employee productivity.

According to Kremer (2019), it is immensely important for organizations to understand

the value of job satisfaction among their employees because it might result in a profit chain in the organization. The absence of job satisfaction among employees often results in lethargy and limits commitment. Bank managers should always ensure that their employees are well satisfied with their jobs if they want to retain them.

Bank managers should consider some crucial factors that impact employee job satisfaction. Most importantly, they should bear in mind that the more the employees are satisfied, the more efficient they become. They provide good services to both the internal and external organization. The following are significant factors that bank managers should consider.

#### Human Resource Policies

Human resources policies can be classified as a guide to the way management thinks. They effectively help the management attain its objectives with respect to human resources (Hafeez et al., 2020). These policies prescribe acceptable and unacceptable behavior. They guide the managers and enable them to define the organization's stance on various issues. In their policy statements, bank managers should emphasize the mission and vision statements, which act as a broad guideline for the various actions bank managers take in dealing with employees. Shibiti (2019) argues that sick leave and accident insurance are critical human resources management policies that managers should always consider. Sick leave means that the employee is assured of payment even when they cannot work due to illness. Such assurance assists managers with boosting morale and engender a positive attitude to the organization. Differing organizations tend to vary the number of leave days they allow their employees.

When the recovery term is longer than 4 weeks, long-term or disability insurance takes over. According to Van de Pas et al. (2019), some organizations go to the extent of paying the employees for the accumulated sick leave days, often up to almost 6 months before retirement. The aim is to discourage the employees from taking advantage of sick leave. On the other hand, the organizational policies are there to serve the interests of both the organization and the employee. The bank managers should always ensure that they adhere to all the human resources policies if they want to retain employees.

## Organizational Structure

According to Dols et al. (2019), an organization's structure helps its managers to achieve their objectives. An organization's goals are usually derived from its overall strategy. Logically, both organizational strategy and structure should be aligned, and the structure should follow the strategy. A slight change in an organization's strategy affects its system necessitating modification of the structure. Generally, an organization's structure contributes to streamlining the organization's work. More importantly, the organizational structure reduces ambiguity, because all the employees are aware of what they are supposed to do. A clear chain of command also contributes to good communication and coordination between the employees. More importantly, being familiar with the organization's structure helps workers to visualize their future roles. Bank managers should always ensure that they treat the organizational structure as a significant factor, which, when well utilized, can lead to long-term employee retention.

# **Working Conditions**

Recent studies show that employees tend to value organizations that seem to have excellent working conditions (Singh, 2019). They often view the ideal working conditions as essential contributors to their work satisfaction. According to Singh (2019), refreshment and recreational facilities, and a good health and safety facility within the working places motivate employees to keep working for the given organization. Working conditions include the company culture, hierarchies, management styles, and human resources policies. Additionally, working conditions largely influence job satisfaction, because a high workload is often associated with reduced performance. Studies show that workers desire comfortable working conditions. Bank managers should always ensure that an excellent working condition exists within their organizations. When they fail to do so, there are high chances that the employees were negatively impacted mentally and physically, resulting in increased attrition.

## Management Style

According to Adamska (2020), management is a process of defining a clear goal and short-term objectives and formulating a plan of action to achieve them over a given period. Management can also be viewed as a dynamic intervention process, the main aim of which is to integrate and balance working people to ensure that they add value to the organization. Bank managers should ensure that they use the most effective management styles, including planning, organizing, controlling, commanding, and coordinating, as indicated by Henri Fayol. Effective management styles enhance bank managers' chances of retaining employees.

# Job Security

According to recent studies, job security has a significant effect on job satisfaction. Bank managers should consider job security in their organization as one of the primary predictors of job satisfaction. According to Kurdi and Alshurideh (2020), employees enjoy a high level of satisfaction when their working area seems secure. There is a strong connection between both the feeling of having a secure job and the chances of greater job satisfaction. By contrast, previous studies indicate that a lack of assurance that the employee is secure in their position can cause stress. Bank managers should ensure a high level of job security for their employees because it is an essential factor in employee commitment. Bank managers should also always ensure high job satisfaction and safety to avoid some possible future economies with a low level of job opportunities. In short, the maintenance of job security by bank managers fosters employees' job satisfaction, which, in turn, contributes to retaining them in the long term.

#### **Promotions**

According to Areigat et al. (2019), promotion is the movement of an employee from a specific job to a higher position with more significance and rewards than the previous one. The rise gives an employee a chance to advance in their career or even to take a new career path in a bridging job. Promotion also contributes to improving the employee's social life. The salary of the promoted employee usually increases. Previous studies show that delivery failure is higher when new employees are externally hired than when they are promoted internally. Promotion has a more substantial influence on the employee's performance than other factors, such as achievements and recognition. This is

because promotion is often accompanied by an increase in payments, and a decrease in supervision and autonomy. Employees who appear to be dissatisfied with the available opportunities for promotion tend to show a considerable desire to leave the job. Bank managers who are devoted to retaining their potential employees in the long term should always ensure consistent promotion opportunities.

#### Rewards

Bank managers should formulate and implement reward strategies for their skilled employees. When the employees are fairly, equitably, and consistently rewarded, they develop positive attitudes towards their workplace. Rewards are a huge motivation for employees. Motivated employees streamline the process for the bank managers to achieve the strategic objectives of the organization. Bank managers should persistently reward their employees according to the organization's values. Awarding appropriate rewards conveys the message that good work is noticed and appreciated. A rewards culture attracts skilled employees who are seeking greener pastures. According to Yadav and Dabhade (2014), employees who are rewarded equitably feel a strong bond with the organization.

According to recent studies, a high turnover rate in many organizations is caused by inadequate in pay, poor rewards, and a lack of source. In organizations in which there is inequality in pay and unequal demands are made on employees in the same field, it becomes difficult for the staff to keep working for the organization. Financial methods are the most effective ways to motivate the employees in a workforce. They comprise fixed and variable pay, bonuses, additional pay, profit sharing, and commissions.

Financial rewards encourage the employees to put extra effort into their work (Ahmad et al., 2019). Additionally, bank managers can use some non-financial methods to reward their employees, such as praise, a good quality working life, responsibility, recognition, and personal development.

Despite the overriding notion that the financial system is the most effective way of rewarding, this is not always the case, since not all workers are satisfied simply by receiving money as their reward. According to Bibi et al. (2018), a conducive environment has the greatest impact on an employees' motivation. Recent studies show that a conducive environment intrinsically motivates employees, boosting their level of productivity. Additionally, rewards satisfy employees and motivate them to maintain a suitable relationship with the management. Finally, the use of a reward strategy improves recruitment efficiency, and helps to motivate and retain the employee. Organizations that have a reward strategy attain competitive advantage because they position themselves to retain skilled employees in the long term.

A proper integration of both reward practice and employee performance contributes to the most effective return on capital investments. Bank managers can formulate new methods of analyzing and determining suitable rewards for the employee and formulate strategies for handling grievances that might emerge. Such strategies are beneficial to employees, and they are encouraged to work harder for the organization. Bank managers who want to retain their skilled employees for a long period should ensure the fair and equal provision of rewards to their employees.

#### **Communication**

Communication can be defined as a social process through which people establish and maintain relationships. It can also be defined as the exchange of information and understanding. All businesses and organizations depend on communication, which acts as the glue that binds various elements. According to Tian (2020), effective communication results in employees' increased commitment to the organization because it enables them to be engaged. Recent studies show that effective communication leads to coherence; the organization's management should pay serious attention to communication strategies. It also facilitates the smooth running of the management system. Bank managers should open the channels of communication with their employees. This does not mean simply informing the staff about various matters, such as management changes. Good communication is a two-way system. Bank managers should facilitate an open culture in which the employees are encouraged to feel free to express their suggestions or opinions without any fear. Some recent literature reviews clarify that communication of the highest standards, which is relevant to all stakeholders, enhances both the staff and employee's satisfaction. Bank managers should always maintain good communication to ensure the employee's satisfaction.

## Organizational Culture

Organizational culture can be defined as a complex phenomenon that involves shared values, beliefs, and understanding between the organization's members. Elements such as the attitudes and the mindsets of staff members combine to form a corporate culture. Bank managers should always adhere to all requirements to acquire the

organization's culture. By doing so, they guide the employees' attitudes and behavior (Kurdi & Alshurider 2020).

### Labor Turnover

Labor turnover can be defined as a process of change in the composition of the consolidated labor force. It is also associated with the movement of the employees in or out of the organization's boundaries. Both employee retention and turnover are closely related, such that it is difficult to discuss one without the other. Although there are two types of turnover, negative and positive, bank managers who want to retain employees for more than 5 years should always advocate for the positive one. Under the positive turnover, the loss of qualified employees should be through promotions within the organization. Hassan et al. (2019) assert that turnover is a measure of how effective the organization is.

### Working Relationship

According to Gan and Yusof (2019), a working relationship can influence an employee's decision to leave or to remain in the organization. Previous research indicates that a manager should always create a positive environment and relationships. The positivity in both the environment and relationship leads to employee satisfaction in the workplace. Satisfied employees are more willing to work in the given organization for an extended period. Bank managers who want to retain their employees should ensure a positive working relationship and environment.

### **Effects of Financial Crises on Employee Turnover**

Since 2008, employee turnover in the United States has been considered a negative outcome for any organization. Some of the turnovers are considered ordinary and even necessary for the viability and health of the organization (Kim, 2020). Experts have called for creating more efficient public sector organizations because of the awareness of the discrepancy of technological power and the effects to computational complexity in the financial industry (Mikheeva & Tonurist, 2019).

According to Kim (2020), turnover can negatively affect the normal flow of activities and increase costs. Financial and economic crises are external factors that might influence bank employee turnover since they have many implications for both organizations and individual employees. The employee might feel less secure working for the organization, which is also related to other factors such as job satisfaction, commitment, and the intent to quit. Khalid (2020) states that many employees in the United States are likely to leave their companies during financial crises, which means that turnover is directly related to financial and economic problems. Spokeviciute et al. (2019) argue that financial and economic crises might also result in a loss of employment, affecting the perception of their employers' stability. Under this circumstance, job security becomes more critical and valued by employees. During these crises, the bank might attempt to reduce the workers' wages, making the government sectors more attractive, since they offer security and do not lower salaries during crises.

# The Role of Management Retaining Employees During Crises

During financial and economic crises, bank employees continue to work if they receive ample support from their management teams. To retain employees, bank managers in the United States should inspire their employees and keep them motivated. According to Khalid (2020), retaining experienced workers in the U.S. banking sector helps to stabilize the economy during the crisis and enhance unification. Bank managers need to empower and motivate their workers daily. This involves granting them an opportunity to engage in activities that may boost employee retention. Spokeviciute et al. (2019) state that retaining talented employees in any bank sector requires top management commitment. Retention of experienced employees in the bank sectors of United States is vital. Bank managers should take responsibility for strengthening their organizations to ensure employee retention during crises. This might involve motivating employees, understanding, and responding to their needs, and ensuring consistent performance during financial crises.

### Motivating Employees

To motivate and retain experienced workers in U.S. banks, bank managers need to manage the recruitment and performance management systems of their organizations.

According to Khalid (2020), motivated workers work hard and provide high-quality work for the bank's benefit. When bank managers motivate their workers, they feel appreciated and comfortable, and are likely to remain in such an organization.

# Understanding the Needs of Employees

Workers are likely to face difficult times during financial and economic crises in U.S. banks. Bank managers often respond by suspending some services, reducing staff, and increasing the working hours of the remaining workers. Employees find it hard to operate and they might quit their jobs if the managers do not understand their needs. According to Khalid (2020), when organizational leaders actively meet their employees' needs, the latter respond with trust, which motivates them to remain committed to the business. They might suggest ways to develop the company's services or products and strive to satisfy customers and stakeholders. When bank managers learn to cater to the employees' needs, it is easy to formulate effective retention strategies (Spokeviciute et al., 2019).

## Developing the Needs of the Employees

The primary way to ensure employee retention is to safeguard their well-being at their workplaces. This can be a challenging task during financial crises. Queralto (2020) shows that employees in the banking sector always remain responsible if they receive the appropriate training and have all the required resources in their working environment. The manager's role as a performance coach involves developmental assessment to define performance, provide feedback, encouragement, identify strategic goals, growth opportunities, and resources (Steelman & Wolfeld). When bank managers decide not to provide their employee feedback, goals, and monitoring progress toward those goals, they hinder their development needs (Steelman & Wolfeld). There is a need for bank

managers in the United States to meet their employees' needs to increase employee retention.

# Ensuring Consistent Performance During Financial Crises

During financial and economic crises, it is a challenge for U.S. bank managers to ensure their employees' consistent performance. To do so, bank managers need to meet individual expectations. They need to understand what motivates individual employees, improving employee retention. Kim (2020) states that managers need to discuss and know the employee's expectations and goals to help them adequately.

## Fostering Employees Trust and Commitment During Financial Crises

In the United States, bank employee performance is correlated with engagement, commitment, and work-life balance. Organizational commitment in the banking industry is highly valued, since committed workers provide reliable and quality customer service. According to Kim (2020), organizational commitment helps to build customer relationships. Bank managers are supposed to work intelligently to make sure that employee commitment is maintained during financial crises and determine the best ways to minimize employee turnover and the adverse effects associated with it. Bank managers support and encourage their employees to remain and increase the productivity of the organization. During financial crises, bank managers should support employees to achieve its goals and objectives, while they strive for the organization's prosperity. This improves the spirit of commitment among employees.

Queralto (2020) clarifies that training and developing employment opportunities are motivators for employees to commit and work hard. Supporting growth opportunities

helps employees to advance their skills, enabling them to perform their duties well. This way, bank managers can involve their workers in decision making, improving trust among staff members.

## **Effectiveness of Retention Strategies Utilized During the 2008 Financial Crisis**

The 2008 financial crisis had various effects on employee retention in banks and other organizations, both in the United States and other nations. Kurdi and Alshurideh (2020) demonstrate that the crisis led to high employee turnover, affecting banks and other organizations' operations. Bank managers in the United States formulated and implemented various strategies to enhance employee retention and maintain their competitiveness. They offered various compensations and benefit packages to improve employee satisfaction and influence them to remain in their jobs. Wójcik and Cojoianu (2018) assert that, although employee turnover cannot be prevented entirely, the U.S. bank managers' strategies significantly enhanced their talent retention and reduced turnover.

Alshurideh (2020) define compensation and benefits as processes and actions taken by the human resources departments or organizations' managements daily, such as setting the procedures and rules around wages, either directly in the form of cash or indirectly in the form of other benefits. According to Alshurich (2020), compensation plays a crucial role in maintaining employees in organizations as it is one of the central concerns. Tunio et al. (2020) assert that employees appreciate the compensation and benefits extended to them since they contribute their talents, time, and effort to enhance the organizations' operations and competitiveness. Employee benefits and compensation

act as the unit of exchange of value between the employees and the employers. Employers offer various benefit packages, such as dependent care, healthcare, and income protection. On the other hand, the employees contribute their talents and efforts to benefit their employers. Having effective strategies for extending benefits and compensation builds good employer-employee relationships, which increases the employees' preference for the organization and influences their decisions to remain in their jobs. The U.S. bank managers' efforts to improve employees' compensation and benefits improved employee retention. The latter enhanced the bank's performance, led to the infusion of new technology and knowledge, and reduced labor costs. Tunio et al. demonstrate that the managers' actions enabled them to maintain ties with their existing employees and recognize new business opportunities.

The U.S. bank manager's response to the financial crisis relative to employee retention enhanced the institutions' competitiveness in multiple ways. According to Wojcik and Cojoianu (2018), the managers' actions enhanced employee loyalty, which was based on employee satisfaction. The employees' loyalty emanating from the manager's efforts enabled the banks to retain their employees and improve their effectiveness in responding to their needs. Wójcik and Cojoianu (2018) also show that the U.S. bank managers engaged their human resources departments regarding revisiting their practices to ensure their effectiveness in responding to the needs of the diverse workforce.

#### **Transition**

The problem and focus of the study are provided in Section 1: The purpose of this qualitative case study is to explore the possible factors that might lead to the development of strategies that mangers of U.S. banks might use to retain skilled employees. Managers might use the findings of this study to increase the commitment of skilled employees to the organization. Insight about the effectiveness of the strategies that the bank managers utilized justifies the need for the skills and knowledge to retain the employees. I sought to explore the lived experience of the participants to identify the factors that might contribute to employee attrition. Developing strategies to increase employee commitment to the organization might reduce costs associated with why the skilled employees choose to leave the company. The development of strategies to increase the commitment of the skilled employees might reduce costs associated with training and hiring of new employees and enhance organization efficiencies.

The problem and focus of the study comprise Section 1: The purpose of this qualitative case study is to explore the possible factors that might lead to the development of strategies that managers of U.S. banks might use to retain skilled employees. Managers might use the findings of this study to increase the commitment of skilled employees to the organization. I sought to explore the lived experience of the participants to identify the factors that might contribute to employee attrition. Developing strategies to increase employee commitment to the organization might reduce costs associated with why the skilled employees choose to leave the company. The development of strategies to

increase the commitment of the skilled employees might reduce costs associated with training and hiring of new employees and enhance organizational efficiencies.

The intended focus of this study includes seeking an understanding of the major challenge confronting the global business environment, which is the retention of talented employees (Ohunakin et al., 2020). I explored the lived experience of managers employed in a bank in the United States who developed skills and strategies required to retain skilled employees. The study findings might assist leaders of banks and other organizations in understanding how developing trust while listening to the employees might contribute to increased commitment and retention of the skilled employees.

# Section 2: The Project

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative exploratory case study was to explore the strategies bank leaders used to reduce turnover costs and retain employees beyond 5 years. The sample included four site leaders located in the southeastern region of the United States who experienced a downsizing of more than 20% of their organization personnel. Retention of skilled employees might improve banking performance and result in better outcomes for business operations and customers (Boudreaux, 2021). The potential implications for positive social change include improved economic conditions and stronger skillsets in workplaces, which might generate revenue for other community industries.

#### Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher was to facilitate understanding of the explored research topic while conducting a qualitative case study to determine participants' underlying reasons and motivations. As the human instrument of the study, my responsibility was to follow the principles of the *Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. 1979) while assessing the thoughts and feelings of the participants. I took steps to safeguard the participants and their data (Park & Park, 2016).

Researchers who conduct qualitative case studies do not generalize about the population of interest (Park & Park, 2016). A qualitative case study researcher develops the research by providing a foundation for initial understanding and a sound basis for

further decision-making (Park & Park, 2016). The data analysis for the research was nonstatistical, except for the review of previous research to compare and develop the study. I am an individual contributor within the bank industry. I did not have a relationship with any of the participants in the study that might confer benefits or knowledge unrelated to the study.

During data collection and analysis, I attempted to mitigate my personal lens or worldview. In the capstone study, I also describe the mitigation process that I used. I did so based on Hays et al.'s (2016) assertion that it is imperative that, in the report itself, researchers must cogently and comprehensively describe the research process and outcomes and indicate transparent criteria and strategies to achieve trustworthiness. Hays et al. noted that, although establishing rigor is a priority, it is hard to determine what the criteria should be. Categorization, implementation, and the evaluation of the criteria should be used to determine the degree to which qualitative case studies align with qualitative principles (Hays et al., 2016).

I sought to mitigate potential bias by adhering to four criteria. Hays et al. (2016) asserted that the researcher must focus on a nomothetic versus idiographic, or naturalistic versus laboratory research setting, researcher role. The researcher should also acknowledge and engage in reflexivity and present findings or fully describe participant quotes. I asked the participants to review the transcripts to check whether I had accurately reflected their lived experience. Each participant reviewed the protocol of the study. Each one could have viewed the study phenomenon from a unique position and might have a different interpretation from the other interviewees. I used qualitative research interviews

to gain a perspective on a phenomenon. I did not want to generalize the understanding of each participant's perspective; I wanted to explore each participant's lived experience.

### **Participants**

The targeted population for the study were managers of the banking industry in the state of Virginia in the United States. I contacted potential participants by telephone. The purpose of the study was explained to them, and they were invited to participate. They were asked how long they had worked for the downsizing organization and whether they would provide information about how many skilled employees left the organization voluntarily. Everyone who volunteered to participate in the study received a copy of the informed consent form. Additionally, each participant was provided with a clear picture of the expectations. An explanation of the nature and the significance of the research was emailed to them.

### **Research Method and Design**

#### **Research Method**

Research approaches include qualitative, quantitative, and mixed-methods research (McLaughlin et al., 2016). Qualitative researchers build an inductive theory based on insights that challenge taken-for granted theories and expose new theoretical directions (Bansal et al., 2018). Determining a research method depends on the purpose of the study because differing research methods apply to differing research objectives. For example, inductive theorizing is a cornerstone of qualitative research, whereas quantitative methods are used to generate new knowledge that relies heavily on logical reasoning based on prior insights and understanding along existing or adjacent paths

(Bansal et al., 2018). I selected the qualitative approach for this study because it facilitated the exploration of the skills and knowledge that bank managers in the southeastern region of the United States acquired to develop the strategies required to retain employees beyond 5 years. Quantitative and mixed-method methodologies were not appropriate for this study because quantitative methods are utilized to understand the relationships between variables (Barnham, 2015; Bansal et al., 2018). Quantitative research involves inductive theorizing that is grounded in data and broadens the researchers' epistemological frame with longer leaps than hypo-deductive logic based on quantitative data, resulting in completely novel ideas (Bansal et al., 2018). Mixedmethods research involves utilizing both qualitative and quantitative methods in the same study (McLaughlin et al., 2016). Researchers utilize qualitative research methods to draw on observations from the data to introduce abstracted knowledge that can be generalized beyond the specific contexts (Bansal et al., 2018). In qualitative critical realism research, participants' experiences and understandings could challenge existing scientific knowledge and theory (Fletcher, 2017).

## **Research Design**

Qualitative researchers utilize key principles of research design to link the research questions to the methodological approaches, issues of analysis, and data collection while being clear about the purposes of the research (Mohajan, 2018). In qualitative research, some of the most popular research designs are case studies, ethnography, phenomenology, and narrative research (Yin, 2018). The design that was utilized for the study is the single-case study. Case study research is a triangulated

research strategy that combines two or more perspectives to help researchers to explore various perspectives, approaches, or data sources to construct an in-depth explanation of observed phenomena (Gehrke, 2019). Researchers who use case study designs perform an inquiry into a problem in an intricate and in-depth manner (Gehrke, 2019). Additionally, researchers utilize the case study design by asking *how* and *what* questions that lead to an in-depth exploration of the problem that is being studied (Yin, 2018). Using a case study design, researchers investigate a phenomenon by collecting data from a range of sources, generating rich insight into context-specific phenomena (Farquhar et al., 2020). I gathered data by interviewing several bank managers and reviewing company documents about employee turnover and strategies used to address the employee turnover issues. A case study design was appropriate because it facilitated the identification of strategies that bank managers utilize to retain skilled employees beyond 5 years during crises.

I considered but opted against using the ethnographic, phenomenological, or narrative design. The ethnographic design is the most intensive qualitative approach (Mohajan, 2019). Ethnographical research is a combination of approaches and techniques used to gather data by observing participants values, behaviors, and interactions, which are described and interpreted through an explanation of observed patterns (Mohajan, 2018). The focus of the study did not involve the observation of participants nor gathering data from observation. Phenomenological research is an exploration of one or more individuals' experiences of a concept or phenomenon (Mohajan, 2018). A phenomenological model was not utilized for the study becasue I did not investigate the

life experiences of the participants. Narrative designs comprise a detailed exploration of the participants' views when they give an account of their personal stories (Yin, 2018). Researchers use the narrative design to concentrate solely on the meanings and stories individuals contribute to their reality to gain a deeper understanding of a phenomenon (Makrygiannakis & Jack, 2018). It is not the intention of this researcher to inquire into the life experiences of the participants; the narrative design is deemed unsuitable for this study.

A case study design is beneficial when the researcher seeks to investigate real-life phenomena within an environmental context (Ridder, 2017). Researchers use descriptive single-case study designs to examine an individual or small group of individuals, businesses, or strategies by reviewing one or more forms of a program, an event, an activity, a process, or one or more individual's information through observations, private interviews, and multiple sources of data (Mohajan, 2018). The structure of a case study design should include the problem, the context, the issues, and the lessons learned (Mohajan, 2018). The single-case study design is appropriate to explore the retention strategies the bank managers need to retain skilled employees in the U.S. banking industry; I was able to generate clear data for exhaustive analysis and understanding of problems in their natural life setting (Ridder, 2017).

# **Population and Sampling**

In qualitative case studies, the researcher typically utilizes one of several techniques for the selection of population sampling. For example, one utilizes judgment or purposive sampling to select a group of people who know about the problem (Rahi et

al., 2019). In contrast, with snowball sampling, a researcher might begin with a single person who is in contact with a small group of people who are relevant to the research topic and ask them to refer other potential participants (Rahi et al., 2019). Typical purposive sampling was utilized to select the case organization and participants for the intended study. The study sample was comprised of managers who agree to participate in the study. The single-case study design is considered appropriate for this research. The participants and documents for analysis were selected by means of nonprobability typical purposive sampling.

For qualitative studies, the researcher should choose participants who are able to provide information that is relevant to answering the research question (Kohler, 2016). According to Saunders and Townsend (2016), qualitative interviews are a central technique utilized as a "reliable gateway" into researching organizations. The number of qualitative research interviews depends on the participant or participants chosen and the quality of the data within their responses (Saunders & Townsend, 2016). It was ensured that the interviews align with the central research question to determine what knowledge and strategies are required to retain skilled employees during down times within the corporation. The sample size was dependent upon the number of interviews I conducted to reach saturation.

The interview protocol was the basis of the interviews. This made it possible to overcome the initial challenges of qualitative research, which I addressed in the beginning stages of communication with the participants. For example, Lancaster (2017) posits that respecting the participant's concerns about the use of sensitive issues and data

must be acknowledged as balancing acts. The interviews were conducted both telephonically and face to face.

# **Ethical Research**

The interactive, flexible, and focused nature of interviews makes them one of the most trustworthy and effective sources of data (Arsel, 2017). To ensure the validity of the research, an effort was made to ensure that the value of the study is not questionable. I obtained approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board before conducting the study (Approval: 02-01-22-0545782). An institutional review board is responsible for identifying potential harms and benefits and ensuring that they are minimized or maximized (Resnick, 2017). I advised the participants that they were free to withdraw from the study by contacting me using the contact information on the consent form. The autonomy of all those who participate in the research was stressed. The steps to be employed during each interview involve the utilization of themes to explore the topic while being open to any new directions presented by each interviewee (Arsel, 2017). Tolich et al. (2017) assert that researchers should be respectful by asking in advance whether the participants volunteer to take part in the research and by assuring them that their identities and information are to be protected. Additionally, researchers need to provide assurances that all the necessary steps to ensure that no harm befalls the participants who volunteer to take part in the research (Tolich et al., 2017). A color key was utilized for each interviewee.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

I was the primary research instrument. Researchers conduct case study research by collecting a variety of data to investigate how the experiences or events associated with an individual, or multiple individuals, might be useful to strengthening the body of knowledge on the topic (Watts et al., 2017). For example, Watts et al. (2017) posited, based on a study involving whistleblowers, (Watts & Buckley, 2015) that the comparison of the similarities and differences of each case was examined and the motives for reporting misconduct were used in a collaboration for the improvement of ethics education programs concerning whistleblowing content (Watts et al., 2017). Watts et al. (2017) posited that, through several best practices such as direct data sources, structured data collection instruments, non-leading questioning and expert raters, qualitative researchers were the primary research instruments, whose task was to capture a holistic picture of individuals' thoughts, feelings, and experiences to inform the development of the theory related to ethical decision-making. The appendix contains the interview questions for the study.

Semistructured interviews were conducted with the goal of determining, by comparing the data collected, the strategies that were utilized by each participant to improve the retention of skilled employees. Guest et al. (2017) posited that individual interviews were more effective for generating a broad range of items than focus groups, because there might be a significant number of sensitive and personal disclosures in a focus group in comparison with the individual interview context (Guest et al., 2017).

Additionally, case studies give the researcher the opportunity to examine a variety of cases and draw conclusions from a broader knowledge base (Javadian et al., 2016).

As the primary data collection instrument, I enhanced the reliability and validity of the data by being inclusive. During the interview process, consistency, transparency, and the ability to be interpretive was maintained (Cassell, 2018). For example, while focusing on the primary topic, the respondents were guided through a process of active listening, probing, and the development of empathy and rapport. This strategy ensures the collection of exact and accurate information (Cassell, 2018).

Conducting semistructured interview enabled me to present clarifying questions to the participants. The reliability and validity of the data collection was enhanced by assigning identifiers instead of the names of the participants and organizations. Each participant and organization were assigned an identifier to label their data, as well as to reference participants and the organizations in the results. The participants were labeled P1, P2, P3, and P4, whereas the organization was identified as O1. The table of contents consists of four tables to outline the interview protocol.

### **Data Collection Technique**

The data collection commenced only after receiving approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board. The required permissions were sought to access participants and ensure that they meet pre-determined criteria to engage in the interview process, after which the data collection process began. The first step was to identify and contact three successful bank managers from different areas of a leading bank in the United States. Individual interviews produce more detail than focus groups and provide

more insight into the participants' personal thoughts, feelings, and worldviews (Guest et al., 2017). A case study design was utilized that comprises data collection and interpretation (Guest et al. (2017). Permission was sought from the participants to volunteer to participate. Signed consent form stating that each participant fully agrees to participate was obtained. Each participant was made fully aware of the purpose of the study. Potential participants were emailed utilizing contact details provided by the unit leader of the managers and the human resources department of the organization. The purpose of the email was to invite the potential participants to participate in face-to-face interviews that were captured on a digital audio recorder or held at a nearby public library.

Qualitative researchers use an interview protocol and the semistructured interview technique to collect data, requiring the interviewer to navigate through the interview process (Kurzhals & Weiskopf, 2018). Qualitative researchers may collect data by utilizing a focus group or individual interviews (Guest et al., 2017). When compared on a per-person basis, individual interviews are more effective at generating a broad range of items (Guest et al., 2017). Semistructured interviews produce significant descriptive information aimed at answering the central research question (Lancaster, 2017). The interviews continued until data saturation, that is, the point at which the addition of new data provided no new information, is attained. Following the interview, I utilized member checking to utilize the strengths of the research method, and extensive informant involvement throughout the analysis process (Iivari, 2018). Care was taken to interpret

the information from each interview correctly. The data were continuously updated to ensure accuracy and trustworthiness in reporting.

The advantage of random sampling is that it can prevent partiality claims (Abdalla et al., 2018). The disadvantage of random participant selection is that some participants might not be as articulate or experienced as others (Abdalla et al., 2018). Eisenhardt and Graebner (2018) state that one advantage of qualitative data collection techniques using case studies is that the researcher can consider conflicting theories that increase the trustworthiness of the findings.

# **Data Organization Technique**

To provide structure and clarity, each research participant was issued a distinct code and label to log their answers. Each research question was specified to uncover rich descriptive data about the personal experiences of the participants. Themes were extrapolated from the data to explain the relationship of the processes to the development of the strategies, thereby creating a foundation for further research. Guest et al. (2017) posited that individual interviews were more effective at generating a broad range of items than focus groups. Additionally, it was less likely that sensitive themes would emerge during the individual interview process (Guest et al., 2017). All the audio-recorded data collection events were transcribed verbatim using the relevant transcribing software.

NVivo 12 qualitative data analysis software was utilized to aid in the verification and cross-checking of the accuracy of coding and the analysis of the findings pertaining to the lived experience of the participants relating to strategies to retain skilled

employees. The trustworthiness of the data collected was ensure by using the member checking method. Birt et al. (2016) asserted that member checking provides the researcher with an opportunity to check the quality of the data. The latter is backed up on approved external cloud drives such as Google Drive and DropBox. The stored data remains confidential, and password protected. In accordance with Walden University policy, the data are retained for 5 years and then destroyed. Hameed, Haider, and Kantarci (2017) state that the tablet computers or personal devices utilized should have state-of-the art processors and a significant amount of cloud storage.

# **Data Analysis**

The triangulation method is essential in the study process to implement systematic checks and balances (Pathiranage et al., 2020). Data triangulation involves the findings from several sources to validate (Pathiranage et al., 2020). The triangulated data included two sources: Site leaders at a corporate level and team managers at the company level. The sources consisted of the semistructured, open-ended interview questions (see Appendix) as the primary data source and the company documentation. At least four interviewees provided personal perspectives on the development skills and strategies that assisted them with retaining skilled employees and reviewing the bank documentation.

According to Abdalla et al. (2018), qualitative researchers have identified various data analysis skills. They also stress the importance of being consistent, transparent, and interpretive in the analysis process and using persuasive writing skills to develop a logical and coherent argument (Abdalla et al., 2018). Additionally, skilled effective critique and evaluation skills are required (Abdalla et al., 2018). Researchers utilize

software to assist with content analysis in qualitative studies (Guo, 2019). NVivo was used to analyze data such as texts, interview transcripts, photographs, and audio and video recording to assist the researcher to understand the sophisticated relations between the data (Guo, 2019). All the transcripts were read to gain clarity for sorting. Guo (2019) notes that NVivo could assist qualitative research through data organization, idea management, querying data, and modeling. Notes were made as ideas present themselves from the data in the transcripts. A list of all the topics was made for each interview, categorizing similar and differing topics, and all other information was coded and added to the appropriate section of the text.

The data analysis process involved coding the interview data and documents, clustering trends in the findings and generating themes that aligned with the central research question and conceptual framework. Coding enables fundamental processes in qualitative research, which leads to data analysis and successive steps to serve the purpose of the study in qualitative research, enabling data analysis and consecutive steps utilized to identify the purpose of the study (William & Moser, 2019).

The following systematic approach was utilized to generate themes: (a) analyze the data in each paragraph and line of the interview transcripts; (b) develop categories by assigning significance and meaning, while focusing on the origination of the conditions and the strategies utilized to treat the conditions, and what the consequences of those strategies were; (c) focus on correlating the principal events derived from previous codifications to develop a theme; (d) develop saturation by building upon the process relating to the categories and the properties to effectively generate a conceptual model;

(e) review the preliminary groupings and combinations of data; and (f) perform a final review to ensure a systematic and well-documented approach and methods.

### Reliability and Validity

The value of a study is found in reliability and validity. Qualitative research assists the researcher to reveal the big picture, which is often missed in quantitative research (Kellam & Cirell, 2018). Quantitative investigators demonstrate reliability and validity through numerical representation of characteristics, variables, or concepts, whereas qualitative researchers focus on people, relationships, situations, events, and processes (Kellam & Cirell, 2018). Qualitative researchers seek to achieve integrity using qualitative traditions such as procedural consistency, triangulation, data collection, and trustworthiness procedures (Flynn et al., 2019).

### Reliability

A consistent interview protocol was utilized for each participant. The same interview questions were put to each interviewee to ensure the dependability of the study. The use of recordings and field notes, as well as the verbatim transcriptions of the participants' words, decreased the likelihood of bias. Additionally, software was used to code data to make it easier to identify deviant cases, detect coding errors, and determine iterator reliability among multiple coders, in accord with the recommendations of Johnson et al. (2020).

Johnson et al. (2020) propose that four criteria are required to establish the overall trustworthiness of qualitative research results. For example, credibility is required to ensure that the researcher imparts to the reader supporting evidence that the results are

factual and represent what was studied. In terms of transferability, the researcher provides detailed contextual information in such a manner that it enables the readers to determine whether the results are applicable to their or other situations. Dependability requires describing the study process in sufficient detail that the work could be repeated.

Confirmability is ensured by communicating to the reader that the results are based on the information gathered from the participants and are not the interpretations or bias of the researcher (Johnson et al., 2020).

## Validity

In a qualitative study, researchers must ensure trustworthiness in their studies. Thoroughness enhances the research process to ensure the investigation is reliable and valid. To be valid, a researcher must apply practices demonstrating credibility, confirmability, transferability, and dependability.

### Credibility

For a study to be credible, a researcher must exhaust all elements of the research process by providing consistent interviews, using an interview protocol, interviews continue until the data collection process adds no new information, and at that point, the interview process stops (Yin, 2018). To further verify credibility of the research approach, and mitigation of bias, is to conduct member checking. Member checking occurs during a second interview with each participant to review the recorded interview data to ensure the accuracy of the collected interview data (Fusch & Ness, 2018).

## **Confirmability**

Rigor in research enhances the study's confirmability. Member checking builds confirmability by proving the accuracy of each participant's interview contribution (Yin, 2018). Using NVivo to code and cluster data, demonstrates credibility by demonstrating a method to organize the data and provide meaning. Using member checking and data analysis software adds rigor to the research enhancing trust in the research.

### **Transferability**

The ability to apply strategies used by a researcher, to gain similar results, enhances the transferability of research efforts. Using an interview protocol and creating an audit trail to establish clear instructions on how to duplicate a study may produce similar findings. In the doctoral study, I used an interview protocol and kept a clearly written audit trail to ensure transferability of the research process.

### **Dependability**

Trust in the research process results from specific techniques that draw ample forms of information into the research process to qualify the research practices as dependable. I ensured the dependability of this study by using an interview protocol and ensuring saturation in data collection to demonstrate that I expose as much information through persistence and rigor. Triangulation and member checking substantiates the research and draws additional sources of data beyond interviews. Using data analysis software strengthens objectivity ensuring the findings are reasonable.

## Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies that bank managers can utilize to gain the commitment of skilled employees to the banking industry. The managers of U.S. banks and those in other regions might use the findings of this study to increase organizational commitment and reduce the costs required to hire and train new employees during and post-economic downtimes. Understanding the effectiveness of retention strategies might explain the effectiveness of the bank organizations' explanations to justify the need to develop the managers' skills to retain skilled employees. The participants' lived experiences might provide a better understanding to the audience of the factors that negatively contribute to participants' organizational commitment. Developing strategies to improve loyalty and gain the employees' trust following economic change might reduce the costs associated with core employee attrition and enhance corporate growth.

In Section 2 of the study, I identified gaps in the literature review about how managers employed in U.S. banks respond to the effects of economic crisis and downtime. I chose the qualitative method with case study design as the most practical means to explore the skills required by bank managers in the U.S. to develop strategies to retain skilled employees. Conducting face-to-face interviews with managers who developed the strategies might provide a deeper understanding of the success of the strategies and the effects on employee commitment to the organization. In addition, the findings of this study might provide insight and knowledge to the bank managers about the cause of employee attrition during downtime and crises. This knowledge might lead

to a change in how organizational leaders view employee engagement and commitment strategies. Section 3 includes conclusions of the research, an explanation of the findings, and possibilities for future exploration. presented evidence of adequate skills and strategies that bank managers might utilize to increase employee commitment to the organization, reducing training and hiring costs. During the research, my focus was on providing a deeper understanding of the central parts of the study, such as the purpose statement, role of the researcher, and participant interviews. I used the participant consent form to gather contact information and consent from the list of participants. A mailed consent form was sent to each participant. Additional duties included establishing trust with participants during preliminary talks about the interview protocol. I assured the participants that their identity would remain confidential as part of the study. I used a digital voice recorder and took handwritten notes during the interview process.

The intended focus of this study included seeking an understanding of the major challenge confronting the global business environment, which is the retention of talented employees (Ohunakin et al., 2020). I explored the lived experience of managers employed in a bank in the United States who developed skills and strategies required to retain skilled employees. My insights might assist leaders of banks and other organizations in understanding how developing trust while listening to the employees might contribute to increased commitment and retention of the skilled employees.

This study provides understanding of the lived experience of some bank managers during economic downtime and the issues that support the development of strategies to retain skilled employees. Qualitative research encompasses various theoretical

paradigms, a wide range of methods, methodologies, and research strategies (Lanka et al., 2021). Qualitative research is an established tradition within management studies (Lanka et al., 2021). Because this study includes seeking understanding about the lived experience of managers during economic downtime and the strategies required to mitigate employee retention, the qualitative case study research method is appropriate. Contract how managers develop the necessary skills and knowledge to increase retention might minimize employee engagement and commitment to the organization.

In Section 2 of the study, my role as the researcher involved addressing central parts of the research such as the purpose statement, participants, data collection, and the ethics of the research study. As the researcher, data collection a deeper understanding of collecting and analyzing answers to assign meaning to the participants' shared lived experiences are summarized. I utilized additional information in this section concerning the collection, organization, and analysis of data to demonstrate the qualitative case study's validity, reliability, and rigor. In Section 3, I present the research findings and discuss how the study might contribute to positive social change. I also offer recommendations for future action and research. The section also includes my reflections on the research process and a conclusion to the study.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

In this qualitative single-case study, I sought to identify bank managers' strategies to reduce turnover costs and retain skilled employees beyond 5 years. Application to professional practice, implications for social change, suggestions, personal reflections, and contributions to the literature are among the research aspects covered in Section 3. In Section 3 of the study, the audience can review discussions on prevalent themes, the presentation of results, and the strategies that bank managers have employed to retain skilled employees. Following the financial crisis in 2008, there has been increased interest in the potential impact of problems on employee well-being and organizational productivity (Montani et al., 2020). During the crisis, bank managers' ability to retain qualified personnel was challenged by reduced employment stability, which resulted in some employees resigning (Zarate & Zambrano, 2018). As Montani et al. (2020) noted, economic diversifications endanger employees' development aims and increase their stress. In retaining employees during challenging times, managers may be able to allay employee stress while improving organizational performance.

### **Presentation of the Findings**

The purpose of the single-case study was to answer the following research question: What strategies do bank managers use to reduce turnover costs and retain skilled employees beyond 5 years? To answer this question, I analyzed an array of evidence. In addition to interviews and document analysis, researcher notes, publicly available resources, and evidence from the literature review were sources of data. While

conducting the interviews and analyzing data, I discovered themes and trends that were helpful to me in determining how the bank managers developed the strategies required to retain skilled employees and reduce turnover.

I contacted bank managers from a list of eligible participants obtained from the organization's public website. The participants were four bank managers with at least 10 years of experience deploying strategies to retain skilled employees during economic downtimes. The participants completed the informed consent forms and a letter of invitation to participate in the research study, which they signed before taking part. I conducted face-to-face participation in line with the semistructured interview approach, with the same open-ended questions being addressed to each participant individually. I withheld participants' personally identifying information as well as the name of the organization because of the sensitive nature of the data obtained. For my study, I designated "O1" as the identifier of the organization where the participants are employed. P1, P2, P3, and P4 were the identifiers for each of the four participants.

I regarded the preciseness of the responses and the validity as high based on the participants' leadership roles and responsibilities within the organization O1. Through member checking, the participants were allowed to review the summary of their interview to ensure the validity of the information acquired. The goal of member checking was to ensure that each participant's interview dialogue was accurately captured and interpreted. Member checking was helpful because it revealed subtle nuances in the participants' viewpoints and my perspectives. For example, during the member checking, participants offered consistent responses to several questions, yielding conclusions like

those obtained during the initial interview. According to Hays et al. (2021), data saturation occurs when the additional data received delivers little new information. For example, P4 was a respondent who provided input about strategies utilized during the financial crisis of 2008 that affected the mortgage servicing sector of O1.

Researchers use triangulation to ensure rigor and trustworthiness of strategies within the research design and greater generalizability through a thick description of data collection and analysis steps (Hays et al., 2021). I manually processed, organized, sorted, and classified previously unstructured information and audio data to create a more logical structure. After conducting a comprehensive evaluation of the data sets, I compiled all the integrated information from the many sources into a single database for easy access. The data analysis yielded similarities in the strategies each participant deployed, depending on their specific role. The only differences noted were the products and services provided to the targeted clients, which did not affect the value they gave to their employees. During data analysis, I was able to uncover emerging trends that may help bank managers get a better understanding of the strategies required to address voluntary turnover in the workplace. According to the research conducted, employee satisfaction has a considerable impact on organizational engagement levels.

I managed several data sources, field notes, and participant responses using the NVivo 12 application, which enabled me to review and classify the information gathered. I utilized the system for qualitative data processing with computer assistance (CAQDAS), organizing the data into concepts using NVivo. This tool collects data into ideas based on underlying similarities. NVivo is a text-based data analysis software program for

qualitative research and is used for various tasks such as organizing, storing, and retrieving data (Dalkin et al., 2021). Using NVivo, I was better able to identify commonalities and differences, themes, and patterns among diverse participant perspectives.

The interview participants provided valuable insights into the many strategies bank managers use to retain their most qualified personnel while maintaining the lowest possible turnover cost. Decreased turnover costs result in successful business development and expansion. Additionally, reduced turnover increased business success (Porter & Rigby, 2021). I discovered six themes during the data analysis process of the responses provided by the participants. Employee motivation, employee trust, effective recruitment strategies, and stock packages were the most prominent strategies the participating bank managers used to retain their skilled employees for more than 5 years. The six central themes were as follows: (a) merging of skillset, (b) reduction of turnover, (c) strategy relevance, (d) continuous training, and (e) incentives, (f) workplace culture.

**Table 1**Frequency of Themes for Strategies to Retain Skilled Employees

Theme	N	%
Merging of skillset	38	11.4
Reduction of turnover	7	2.1
Strategy relevance	6	1.8
Continuous training	47	14.1
Incentives	33	9.9
Workplace culture	21	6.2

As noted in the introduction, the six themes were (a) merging of skillset, (b) reduction of turnover, (c) strategy relevance, (d) continuous training, (c)incentives, and

(f) workplace culture. The participants provided consistent responses to the research question. The responses, combined with the conceptual framework, literature review findings, and triangulation, helped me identify themes during the analysis.

## Theme 1: Merging of Skillset

Strong leadership abilities are crucial attributes of managers when it comes to the growth and development of any organization and its success. The theme of merging of skillsets confirms the tenets of the job embeddedness theory. Harunavamwe et al. (2020) asserted that when an employee is driven and rewarded, the employee begins to believe that their attributes; skills, and abilities are congruent with good job performance, and this belief subsequently strengthens job embeddedness. Organizations in the banking sector must recognize the importance of investing in training programs that assist employees in developing and maintaining high levels of skills. Financial organizations must consider creating opportunities for employees to learn new skills while aligning the skills to the employees' values (Harunavamwe et al., 2020).

Merging of skillsets resonates with the findings of Cote (2019) that for the organization to be successful in motivating a multigenerational workforce, strategies to accommodate the specific needs of each employee. P3 explained how client service efficiency includes strategically developing goals to ensure business continuity since the collapse of the mortgage industry during the financial crisis in 2008. P3 stated, "This means that we, as bank managers, take full responsibility for ensuring that the needs of our clients are addressed." P2 and P3 revealed that by educating and training front-line employees to assist with the day-to-day demands of deposit and retirement accounts and

credit card accounts, they have been able to capitalize on the capabilities of the customer service employees as well as the skills of the client-facing employees, ultimately leading to increase in profits. P1 stated, "With COVID-19, a threat like the one we encountered some years ago." We were conscious of the need to protect our consumers and the wellbeing of our employees." P1, P2, and P3 all concluded that there was a need to temporarily close many of the organization's financial centers where clients are provided services on a more personal one-on-one interaction. P1, P2, and P3 each explained how the need to merge the skills of the financial center employees with those of the customer service employees was a valuable strategy utilized to encompass a variety of skill sets and by combining employee responsibilities. For example, incoming calls from customers requesting assistance with deposit products and services such as online banking, mobile banking apps, and online bill pay platforms are handled by bank managers, financial center managers, and financial center employees, in addition to customer service employees and customer service managers. P4 asserted, "Merging skillsets is an excellent strategy because organization O1 lost many skilled workers who were either laid-off or voluntarily left the organization during the financial crisis. During COVID-19, however, the bank managers at O1 found it beneficial to cross-train the employees and invest in their knowledge. Those same employees will be the leaders of the organization."

P4 stated, "The bank managers provided the financial center employees with specialized training in handling incoming calls from our customers. According to the skill merging concept, the best employees are encouraged to commit to the organization. The

best employees do not leave because they cannot accomplish an essential job; instead, they receive guidance on utilizing their talents." Suhall (2021) explained how the digital transformation, fueled by the pandemic of organizations in the private and traditional sectors, has enabled the job market to bounce back like never before. P4 explained how the implementation of self-service alternatives is underway, with consumers relying on user-friendly email instructions and deep links with step-by-step instructions that may be transmitted to a smartphone to complete their transactions.

P1 provided additional data about recognition. P1 is concise and straightforward in stating, "Since most banking sectors are going through transition suggests a greater likelihood of change in the functioning of employees; it is necessary to devise strategies that motivate employees and help managers retain skilled employees. The difficulty posed by the question was based on the participant's perception of why the strategy was developed to resolve a difficult situation." P1 responded, "Before putting a successful strategy in place, bank executives must first understand that the bank industry is undergoing a fast shift in terms of its cultural values. A transformation has happened in the economy based on the current condition of affairs."

While maintaining compliance, we must fight rising competition, new business models, and fluctuating regulatory requirements. Many traditional operation methods have been gradually replaced by automation-based operations (Wahab et al., 2021). Cultural change has an impact on the long-term health of the organization. Still, the capacity of the financial institution's management to grasp those digital operations does not allow for the use of manual methods and systems is critical. The migration to digital

platforms and the methodological triangulation of the interview data confirms digital operations are becoming prevalent. The migration is confirmed through the information from the website of O1, such as "Small business owners have digital tools so impressive they can't stop banking and 'entrepreneurs are loving our digital tools-86% of our small business owner clients are now digitally active." P4 asserted, "The employees are in the best position to educate our clients. Employee engagement provides an opportunity for the employees to work from home. The managers of O1 were able to see a remarkable improvement in attendance and a significant role in ensuring we take care of our clients with enough workforce coverage."

P4 asserted, "Thousands of financial institutions were forced to close as technology-based solutions replaced outdated techniques. Self-service technologies such as mobile banking, bank apps, and internet banking are all examples of technology that are encouraged and educated to be used by their customers." P4 stated, "Many bank employees now work from home due to the loss in face-to-face customer interaction in the industry, which may be troubling to customers who are steadfast and resistant to change in their company." A successful company should be matched with influential mentors from the start, according to P1. P1 summarized the findings by stating the following: "The use of talent-management strategies to retain highly qualified employees is matched with effective mentors from the start; assign them to tasks that will get a lot of attention. Communicate with them straightforwardly and truthfully." P4 asserted, "Bank managers should invest in future education and growth. Quarterly evaluations of each employee's development are recommended. When it comes to recruiting and maintaining

high-performing individuals, it all starts with the recruitment process." Table 2 contains a summary of the participants' statements concerning merging skillsets.

In summation, the efficiency of client service is required to develop bank manager strategies since the collapse of the mortgage business during the 2008 financial crisis, which implies that bank managers must ensure that the demands of their customers are met. According to the skill merging principle, the best employees are not dismissed because they cannot perform a simple task; instead, they are instructed on how to apply their skills. When it comes to customer service, this is exceptionally advantageous.

Merging skills allows employees to become more proficient in their jobs, thereby increasing customer satisfaction. Gland (2019) remarked as transparency evolves, greater interactivity is needed from the organization from cross-team interactions. Table 2 summarizes statements made by the participants concerning merging skillsets.

 Table 2

 Participant Comments for Theme 1: Merging of Skillset

Participant	Example participant comment
P1	With COVID-19, we are again presented with a threat comparable to the one we encountered some years ago during the financial crisis of 2008.
P2	By educating and training front-line employees to assist with the day- to-day demands of deposit and retirement accounts and credit card accounts, the managers can capitalize on the customer service employees as well as the skills of the client-facing employees.
Р3	During the financial crisis in 2008, as managers, we recognized that it would be beneficial to retain skilled employees and move them to our client services operations.
P4	I think a part of working successfully cross-functional is just having a relationship and knowing people. So, I think helping people tap into that but then recognize we must work together is like getting to know and understand what our clients need and how to satisfy them. During the mortgage crisis of 2008, I managed a diverse

group of employees with different roles. To avoid layoffs and to decrease turnover, I was able to combine the functions of several employees. For example, loan processors were trained to underwrite, and loan closers were trained to review closing documents, etc. The employees responsible for ordering documents experienced the elimination of their roles, but managers trained the employees to close the loans.

Managers must motivate and inspire their employees to go the extra mile for their organizations. The reduction of turnover theme confirms the literature findings by (Saeed & You, 2021), who asserted that job-embedded employees feel linked to their jobs, locations, cooperation, people, and challenges at work, and they believe that their careers will be more successful. These forces prevent an employee from leaving their employment (Saeed & You, 2021).

#### Theme 2: Reduction of Turnover

Researchers have found that all organizational leaders are investing in lowering their turnover costs while simultaneously boosting their returns. Afsar et al. (2018) found that employees remain engaged if they feel fulfilled. P4 explained how during the financial crisis of 2008, employee turnover increased significantly within O1, with employees leaving organization for higher compensation and job stability. The data analysis findings also revealed important information on how to decrease turnover in an organization. Barkhulzen and Gumede, 2021 disclosed that bank managers employ strategies to increase productivity, minimize turnover, and reduce expenses for the financial institution, sometime turnover increases. Barkhulzen and Gumede, 2021 asserted that the primary goal of employee recruitment is to ensure an optimal fit between a new employee and the job/organization, which in turn should equate to higher levels of

job performance. Researchers have shown that a job-person match is essential to reduce stress and prevent turnover (Barkhulzen & Gumede, 2021).

The responses of P1 and P3 show that the employee who gives exceptional client experiences would earn fantastic evaluations in the employee surveys conducted by the customers. P2 discussed how the customers provide feedback on their experiences. The feedback is considered the clients' voice. "The information benefits organization O1 and is utilized to develop strategies to retain skilled employees. For example, from the feedback, bank management discovers what is required to grow earnings and what our customers are saying about the bank, which is critical to the success of our brand (P2)." Aside from the employee survey technique, P1 stated, "The managers of O1 have a variety of strategies for reducing employee turnover that they use." P1 explained how presenting a good business image helps create positive attitudes among employees. For example, organization O1 offers benefits that are widely considered among the best in the world to reduce employee turnover and increase employee retention rates. Plexplained how managers of O1 have increased the number of hours that an employee may choose to devote to mental health counseling considering what is occurring in our environment with COVID-19 and the well-being of employees. Additionally, their organization provides a childcare plus service where qualifying employees who need assistance with childcare receive a reimbursement of paid childcare. By offering childcare reimbursement, it is possible to extend to the maximum possible period during which the nurturing or nursing personnel may be most productive in the company (P1).

Stensholt and Rattner (2022) assert compensation in 2021 for the median worker at 275 companies in the S&P 500 index was higher than in 2019, including 150 companies, which increased 10% or more from 2019. P2 explained how competitive the salary range of O1 has become. Wages for the median workers at most big American companies are higher than before the pandemic, resulting in increased wages for many bank tellers, factory workers, and software programmers (Stensholt & Rattner, 2022). P2 stated, "The increase in salaries is underway within O1. It is evident through the external website "Offering competitive wages for newly hired employees makes O1 one of the best places to work in the world. Starting wages in 2021 for new hires began at 21.00 in U.S. dollars per hour, with the rate increasing yearly to 25.00 per hour by 2025. Employee perks, such as free tickets to athletic events and employee discounts, among other things, are another practical approach to motivating employees." P1 said, "O1 is investing in them by sharing success with them via implementing a new restricted stock option program."

Additionally, P1stated, "Managers had profited from enabling their employees to have some degree of flexibility in their work schedules. By implementing such strategies, the O1 can retain the best-qualified staff while maintaining a reduced cost of operation. Employees with flexible working hours may be able to switch around the time and location of their work assignments." P2 stated, "Employees might achieve a good work-life balance by acquiring a flexible work schedule. Additionally, your employees will have the time and flexibility to pursue hobbies outside work, attend appointments, and care for their families. Depending on the industry, some companies may be unable to

accept flexible work schedules." P3 asserted, "All employees should be made aware that they must report to their organization at certain times throughout the day. However, there may still be ways in which you may give flexibility, such as allowing employees to work from home on certain days." P1 and P2 stated "Many employees could work from home or on a flexible schedule because of departmental policies. The ability to work from home and choose their working hours gives them more freedom." P3 stated, "I am conscious that my employees have lives outside work. That is something I appreciate. Although employees may have a life outside of work, they will be more satisfied and less distracted while they are at work. Employees wanting to leave the organization is always possibility, no matter how successful the organization is. These employees may discover vocations that they are more interested in, change professional paths, choose to be a stay-at-home parent, and even decide to start their own business. Employee turnover is hard to avoid completely. The good news is that by building a work atmosphere that encourages individuals to stay, you may reduce the likelihood of employee turnover."

Employee turnover is one of the business problems that every employer must tackle, especially when there is a boom in job opportunities (Suhall, 2021). P4 asserted, "Turnover reduction becomes increasingly crucial to O1 as the economy improves and the demand for skills increases." P4 stated, "Skilled employees who remained with O1 during the challenging economy are likelier to accept better offers from other organizations. Every quarter workforce planning becomes a priority." P4 asserted, "When turnover is high, more difficult effects arise, such as a decline in productivity, morale, customer satisfaction, and innovation. To reduce the cost of turnover, the managers of O1

take a proactive approach by projecting the number of new hires who will be required for the upcoming months to calculate the effect on the organization's budget."

In summary, it will take several years for the employees to return to business behaviors and commitment to the company, as it was before the COVID-19 pandemic. The slow recovery cannot be a permanent solution to the retention of skilled employees (Ahn & Menichinl (2022). Instead of monetary benefits, workplace satisfaction and organizational commitment should be the focus of the leadership to retain highly qualified employees (Ahn & Menichinl (2022). Early forecasting provides managers with the time to make better hiring decisions. Table 3 contains the statements of the participants made concerning strategies to reduce turnover.

 Table 3

 Participant Comments for Theme 2: Reduction of Turnover

Participant	Example participant comment
P1	Bank managers must determine how to improve business outcomes
	tied to hiring. The strategies must be created to address the gaps
	and areas that require the development of skills. Required to
	enhance productivity and reduce turnover and the associated costs.
P2	As a manager of the organization consistently navigating through the
	challenging economy, I must strategize by allowing room for
	flexibility and competitive options for my employees. For
	example, salaries and work from home.
P3	Considering and appreciating my employees' need for a work-life
	balance prove to keep them satisfied and less distracted at work.
P4	When I recruit new employees, I consider the work ethics of my
	most successful employees. I look for those same attributes in new
	hires. I provide new hires with a roadmap of what they can expect
	while utilizing acquired skills and knowledge. By being
	transparent about salary and career growth, new hires tend to
	commit to the organization.

The strategy relevance theme resonates with the literature findings of Harunavamwe et al., (2020) that retaining a strongly committed workforce has become a top priority for most financial institutions in the banking industry. Theoretically, leadership strategies are required to enhance the positive relationship between the employee and positive outcomes, including reducing employee turnover. The tenets of the job embeddedness theory refer to keeping the employee on the job while linking the larger corporate culture to the demands the employee's immediate job knowledge, skills and abilities (Harunavamwe et al., 2020). It is important for bank managers and leaders to strategize the fit component that job embeddedness represents; the sense of belonging that an employee feels with the job and organization (Harunavamwe et al., 2020). Employees faced with the threat of loss of resources without replenishment are more likely to be motivated to protect and invest the remaining resources. JE resources are restricted to the organization, and the position that the employee occupies. When an individual moves to another organization they cannot move the links and other people with them (Harunavamwe et al., 2020).

### **Theme 3: Strategy Relevance**

The concept of job embeddedness is helpful for understanding the turnover crisis in the banking industry (Harunayamwe et al., 2020). The theme of strategy relevance links to the conceptual framework, job embeddedness, a construct developed in response to traditional turnover models where the relevance of on-the-job and off-the-job factors are researched to determine why employees stay with their organization (Harunayamwe et al., 2020). P1 asserted, "The managers and employers could retain employees for a

long time if they develop innovative strategies. Because the employees are always kept happy, poaching them from their institutions will be difficult in the future, if possible."

Employee performance is monitored by bank management to identify the possible relevance and efficiency of a strategic initiative, explained P3. An employee performance management tool is used to track employee achievement and performance to set objectives for the employees in question (Morgan, 2020). P3 stated, "The objectives are established and made public to ensure that all employees know what is expected of them and what they must do to achieve the goals. Strategy is crucial since it aids bank management in their ability to think strategically in the future." A well-thought-out strategy is essential because it will give them an understanding of how to proceed as a business in a manner that is advantageous to the organization's overall development (Parker, 2019). According to responses of P1, P2, and P3, the corporation intends to keep its staff for more than 5 years. P4 stated, "Leaders must be proficient in all forms of communication, including one-on-one meetings, departmental and full-staff conversations, and contact via the phone, email, video, chat, and social media platforms." P3 stated, "Because of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, it was necessary to reduce some expenses, but wages and benefits were not affected. Despite this, it was critical to keep competent employees by teaching them more skills rather than dismissing them because they did not understand how to use an essential skill they had learned." P4's response to the potential effectiveness of strategies was based on how the approach is linked to the objectives or the plans to achieve the goals and the methods. P4 stated, "A

strategy is effective if the allocated resources are utilized following your plan and delivering the expected results."

Following P1, the bank's management intended to retain qualified employees by broadening the scope of their work duties. Consequently, employees migrated away from their previous employers to organizations that allowed them to work remotely. To avoid this, bank executives devised a strategic strategy that would enable competent staff to work from home. According to P3, employees were sent home in waves, with all their digital requirements completed. Employee feedback was acquired via satisfaction surveys from employees who had been sent home. The move increased employee satisfaction, engagement, retention, and company continuity. The installation of self-service options has shown to be a crucial strategy for retaining employees in recent years. Since self-service options relieved staff of their duties, they had more time to devote to other tasks. Using this method, the bank managers of organization O1 can retain its current personnel while lowering its operating expenses.

Additionally, P3 stated, "Management teams try to boost employee engagement and decrease attrition costs by getting to the point and asking employees questions about how they may improve their performance and productivity. They provide voluntary surveys to employees, who are encouraged to participate. The responses or findings are kept anonymous, allowing employees to submit feedback and ensuring that the information is not one-sided. This survey assists managers in turning the tables on their staff by providing them with the opportunity to contribute their feedback and value. It also allows management to understand better what their employees think and feel about

the organization. The feedback provides the managers with the information they need to plan their next step in their attempt to retain their staff."

The managers who participated in four interviews are concerned with providing their employees with the resources they need to feel safe and secure. P1 management teams have begun implementing trial projects to enhance flexibility, transparency, and technological advancement. With the availability of daycare services, the nursing staff can spend their time to the greatest extent possible while still being effective in their jobs. In addition, employees are supplied with mental health days and invited to participate in focus groups organized by the corporation to offer input on their well-being, particularly after the COVID-19 epidemic rocked the country in 2019. As the battle for talent increases, this forum gives employees a career path that enables them to develop, learn, and push themselves as their company grows. The competitive edge has a significant influence on the organization since it allows for actual progress to be made in the area of personnel retention and recruitment.

P3 stated, "A computer-based academy is facilitated by the management team, training courses and seminars. In addition to this, the organization provides recommendation programs for friends and family members, which help increase staff retention. Through the program, the organization guarantees that the correct individuals are recruited, namely people who are self-motivated and capable of working autonomously with little or no supervision while simultaneously taking advantage of the company's possibilities, among other things. Because recruiting and retaining competent personnel starts at the recruitment stage, an effective recruitment process assists the

organizational leaders to decrease costs and, consequently, to decrease the number of laid-off skilled employees." P1stated that, "The use of talent management methods to retain highly competent personnel who understand that a company's success is predicated on its ability to attract and maintain an effective team of managers and employees. When interacting with employees and giving them duties, the bank managers of the corporation should be upfront and honest in their communication. The organization's managers must favorably portray its brand and mission to those who work for it. Managers of O1 give incentives, such as bonuses and additional vacation days, to ensure that employees are more inclined to feel that the company is the finest in the world and would be less likely to quit. P4 asserted, "To measure the effectiveness of an organization's strategy, you must examine how it links to your objective, how you plan to exercise the process, and how it will be used to accomplish the goal".

P1 explained that another approach of the managers of O1is to encourage employees to remain by the provision of employee incentives such as for example employee discounts, free tickets to sports events, and other complementary benefits, among other things. P3 explained how organization O1 shared its success with the employees via the new restricted stock options, thereby investing in the employees' futures. P1, P2, and P3 discussed how employees' faith in an organization grows if they have a sense of belonging. P4 stated, "Because of that, employees will be more likely to remain and less inclined to resign. Consequently, the corporation can retain the most highly trained staff while maintaining reduced operational costs." P4 explained how remote working allows employees to maintain a good work-life balance since they can

now pursue non-work-related hobbies, take care of their families, and have time to attend appointments due to the advent of remote working.

Bank managers strive to develop a pleasant and healthy environment in their organization. Because of that, the staff are more productive and ready to satisfy their superiors and clients (P3). A healthy work environment decreases employee turnover (Parker, 2019). Employees become self-motivated and feel acknowledged and appreciated if there is a healthy work atmosphere that uplifts and encourages them, such as when the management of O1regularly express their thanks for employees' successes. Overall, a healthy workplace results in lower levels of employee turnover (P1 & P2).

Incorporating talent management demonstrates qualified employees increases a company's ability to attract and retain managers and employees which is critical to its long-term success. Managers should be upfront and honest in their communication when interacting with employees and delegating responsibilities to retain the most highly trained employees, while maintaining lower overall operating costs. Table 4 contains a summary of statements made by participants concerning strategy relevance.

 Table 4

 Participant Comments for Theme 3: Strategy Relevance

Participant	Example participant comment
P1	A strategy becomes essential when the business outcomes result from
	increased productivity and reduced turnover.
P2	A strategy is relevant when there is a win-win result for the
	organization, the employees, and the clients that the organization
	services. How do we determine the relevance? As a manager of
	O1, I ensure that there is open communication. I want to know
	what the organization needs to do to ensure customer satisfaction.
	The customer survey, which provides a "voice" for the client
	through feedback, is one way to learn about the customer

	experience and how to improve it.
P3	When employees are paired with influential mentors during training,
	they gain the knowledge and skills required to enhance their
	abilities.
P4	It is important to recognize what is relevant and required to retain
	skilled employees. When the financial crisis of 2008 affected the
	mortgage servicing sector of O1, we lost many skilled employees
	through voluntary attrition and job cuts. The need to leverage
	flexible work capabilities to remain competitive in the bank
	industry is now forcing the bank leaders to rethink their position.
	For example, during the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been
	more concentration on allowing employees to work from home and
	enforcing "digital first" strategies.

*Note*. O1 = Organization 1.

Job-embedded employees may be able to increase their job satisfaction by proactively changing how they perform their jobs and through continuous training (Zhang et al., 2020). The theme of continuous training draws from the tenets of job embeddedness and the importance of the need to keep skilled employees engaged. My research findings show, there is a significant relationship between leadership, work satisfaction, and commitment to the organization. Employees are happier when they are involved with continuous training due to their increased efficiency and talent. When reviewed from the job embeddedness theory perspective, the conceptual model demonstrates that leadership behavior impacts employee morale and performance. Job embeddedness combines forces that keep a person from leaving their job (Zhang et al., 2020).

### **Theme 4: Continuous Training**

Most bank managers provide the first training to new employees while still in the recruiting stage. However, only a few appreciate the need to continue to train personnel

to provide them with the skills required to deal with the latest developments in the organization (Jerry, 2018). P2 stated, "Managers have a continuing responsibility to teach their personnel regularly and this can improve employee retention." P2 stated, "Being actively involvement in the improvement process encourages employees to express loyalty to the organization and increases their likelihood of retaining them." P3 asserted, "Employees who receive frequent training feel more appreciated, competent, and confident in their positions, which reduces their likelihood of quitting and joining one of the competitors' financial institutions. Continuous training programs are a method of ensuring that a company's personnel are competent and well-trained." P4 stated, "A constant in-house program at O1 has been in place for many years at organization O1. Training and development are essential, more than ever, as there is the need to ensure that the employees are challenged in such a manner that they feel confident in their role and committed to the organization.

P2 stated, "Managers have access to ongoing on-the-job training programs, including computer-based training, that they are expected to participate in once a month to keep their skills up to date." P4 stated, "Ongoing training is required because digital-first and self-service choices dictate the need to educate our employees and managers on the corporation's products and services to its clients." P3 asserted, "To ensure that employees are knowledgeable about new processes they must participate in programs at educate and inform them about the products." P3 stated, "The managers' responsibility is to provide up-to-date information and accessible system changes inside the organization."

During this research, it was revealed that employee training and development programs aid in retaining knowledge and skills while providing employees with a clear image of their strengths and deficiencies (P1 & P2). Training saves time and money by preventing a repetition of errors that have been made. P4 explained that when faced with new obstacles, employees experience a sense of accomplishment and a desire to advance in their jobs. Employees who have frequent opportunities to grow, learn, and improve will be more inclined to remain with an organization in the long term. P4 stated, "Continuous training programs assist employees with enhancing their knowledge and skills and gaining a clear picture of their strengths and weaknesses." Additionally, because of enhanced training, employees become more focused and self-driven, reducing the need for supervision. This means that managers will have more time to devote to other aspects of production and turnover will decrease since excellent leaders accept responsibility and are aware of the necessity of ongoing learning and development (Jerry, 2018). P4 asserted, "Employees who have received thorough training are more productive in their positions. Additionally, the workload will be accomplished more rapidly allowing more customers to be served. In turn, this will contribute to the general development of the organization as well as employee retention, since the more efficient and talented they are, the less the burden of work becomes, and the employee will be more satisfied. Bank managers must constantly monitor the employees and develop their overall performance."

Ongoing training ensures that everyone has an equal opportunity for advancement regarding promotions. Managers may decide to award promotions based on the

willingness of employees to learn more and aspire to achieve more for the organization. Managers may also participate in training sessions, encouraging employees to become more engaged in the program (Howard, 2019). The training sessions are also an excellent approach to elicit employees' opinions of the organization and its supervisors and managers. Training and development opportunities for employees demonstrate a willingness on the part of the management to assist the employees throughout their professional lives.

Howard (2019) posits that bank managers relocated more than half of their employees to work remotely to adapt to the new norm created by the pandemic. Since most of the employees are accustomed to working on site, the employees must be trained to use the latest tools and resources required to accommodate this new environment (Howard, 2019). P1 stated, "Employees benefit from ongoing training because they develop and enhance their soft skills, some of which are required to respond to work changes." P1 stated, "The training sessions provide employees with the skills to be more adaptable in the workplace, be more resilient, and have the emotional intelligence to create an atmosphere conducive to productivity."

Training programs aid the company to recruit and retain new employees because individuals are more likely to be drawn to an organization that provides a training and development programs tailored to their specific skills and beliefs. The provision of training represents the manager's dedication to advancing the employee's professional development (Howard, 2019). Employee turnover may be reduced due to the positive

impact of the training programs on the company's reputation. Most employees will be proud of and feel connected to their organization and its management (Howard, 2019).

Training programs improve employee retention due to fostering the participants' sense of belonging and well-being. P2 stated, "The employee develops a better understanding of the company's culture when engaging more with the supervisors, which reduces work-related stress." P4 stated, "The continuous training equips employees with the ability to accept innovation and risk while also pushing them to go out of their comfort zones and embrace development. Ultimately, staff retention and the general productivity of the organization are improved because of that."

In summation, the participants of my research agree that the employees of O1 have benefited from ongoing and enhanced training. P1 and P2 stated, "Employees become more focused and self-driven due to improved training, reducing the need for supervision." P3 asserted, "Managers can devote more time to other aspects of the production process." Jerry (2018) posits that it is anticipated that turnover will be reduced due to excellent leaders accepting responsibility and understanding the importance of ongoing learning and development. Additionally, employees who have received appropriate training are more productive in their respective roles. The workload will be moved along more rapidly, allowing the servicing of a more significant number of customers. P4 asserted, "Managers can improve the retention of skilled employees because the more efficient and talented employees become the more satisfied, they will be, and the burden they must bear will be less. The employees will be happier due to their

increased efficiency and talent." Table 5 contains a summary of the participants' statements concerning continuous training.

 Table 5

 Participant Comments for Theme 4: Continuous Training

Participant	Example participant comment
P1	Continuous training offers the employee the opportunity to grow
	with the organization.
P2	When the employer invests in the employee's career growth, this
	shows appreciation, and the employee feels valued.
P3	Employees are more likely to commit to the organization if they are
	provided flexibility, not just in work-home balance but in career
	development as well.
P4	Continuous training is essential because employees are more likely to
	accept better offers from other organizations if they do not feel
	challenged while performing their daily tasks and job
	responsibilities.

Paying a fair salary to employees is rarely sufficient motivation (although important too). Saeed and You (2021) asserted that an extensive study emphasized its relevance for all types of businesses. Losing employees through incentives is much more expensive than maintaining them (Saeed & You, 2021). The theme of incentives aligns with the job embeddedness theory in that incentives provide organizational commitment, job performance, and innovation while fostering employee engagement.

### **Theme 5: Incentives**

While establishing a solid corporate culture and encouraging employee engagement is vital, additional incentives may help employees remain engaged at their place of employment (Caleb et al., 2021). Most employees want a little more motivation than a symbolic pat on the back from their superior to remain motivated. Many

organizations establish employee incentive programs to keep their employees motivated and productive (Caleb et al., 2021). This list of employee incentives may assist managers to improve the productivity of their teams while also ensuring that they remain motivated and satisfied. Because no two employees are precisely similar, employee incentive programs may be tailored to ensure that the programs meet the needs of all employees. Bank managers must determine how to design a program that satisfies all employees while still being cost-effective? P4 stated, "The organization O1offers health and insurance benefits and have continued to provide wellness programs and resources over the years, which is even more important currently, as we transition through the COVID-19 pandemic."

As more banks open their doors, the level of competition has increased significantly. For many businesses, poaching experienced people from competing institutions means gaining an advantage in the competitive environment (Anderson & Warren, 2018). Employee turnover is significant in many businesses, with employees leaving their places of employment to work elsewhere owing to higher compensation in their new employer. According to the bank managers who participated in the study, employees were rewarded for remaining with their companies (Anderson & Warren, 2018). According to the responses of P4, employees who have worked for the O1 for more than 5 years received the most significant perks. P1explained that O1 offers flexible work hours and affordable healthcare benefits to employees who have been with the company for 5 years or more. In addition, the employees were entitled to benefits such as paid leave, flexibility, employee assistance programs, and child support, among others.

P1 stated, "Mental health is a topic that has not been thoroughly explored in research." P1 said that O1 provides mental health services to employees who have worked for the company for more than 5 years. P3 remarked that in addition to the excellent benefits packages provided by O1, employees who remained with the organization are given a restricted stock option, which he considered an appealing deal.

According to my research findings, the managers of O1 stated that the employees are the company's most critical asset. Maintaining employee satisfaction may help an organization to remain resilient during crises (Caleb et al., 2021). Rewarding and motivating employees in the workplace has advantages for employees and employers related to retention and productivity. When employers recognize and reward their employees for their efforts and results, morale, job satisfaction, and the desire to contribute to achieving organizational goals improve (Anderson & Warren, 2018). Employers and employees benefit from workplace awards and incentives, which can create a more enjoyable working atmosphere while also increasing employee productivity (Caleb et al., 2021). Similarly, an incentive can inspire anybody; providing the staff prizes encourage them to work hard and progress. More significantly, employees feel valued and recognized for their efforts, and incentives are one method to demonstrate this appreciation and recognition.

An increase in morale can be achieved through customizing incentives to meet the specific requirements of employees (Monica et al., 2021). Employees who are attracted to comparable incentives may not be drawn to incentives that are different for everyone.

The amount of attraction is because everyone has their own set of interests and

requirements. Some individuals may need monetary incentives, while others may take advantage of paid vacation opportunities (Monica et al., 2021). P4 asserted, "Realizing what interests your employees through incentives encourages employees to go above and beyond to attain targets that have been established. O1 provides a variety of incentives." A diverse array of incentives appeals to a diverse range of employees (Monica et al., 2021). Over time, employees develop a sense of loyalty to the institution, which makes it more difficult to lure them away.

In summation, while building a solid corporate culture and encouraging employee engagement is essential, other incentives can be used to keep employees engaged (Caleb et al., 2021). Most employees require more motivation than a symbolic pat on the back from their boss to remain productive. Many businesses implement employee incentive programs to keep their employees motivated and productive (Caleb et al., 2021). "Using employee incentives, managers can get more out of their teams while also keeping them motivated and happy (P4)." Table 6 provides statements of the participants concerning incentives.

**Table 6**Participant Comments for Theme 5: Incentives

Participant	Example participant comment
P1	At O1, we look at the complete picture, not just what bonus perks we
	can offer but what costs we can cut to ensure the stability of our workforce.
P2	When the employer invests in the employee's career growth, this shows appreciation, and the employee feels valued.
Р3	O1 offers a competitive 401(k) plan to eligible employees in the United States of up to 5% eligible pay with company-matching contributions, plus 2% or 3% in annual donations.
P4	O1 has an attractive benefits package that includes a Life Event

services team headed by professionals who can provide internal and external connections to experts with information about retirement planning, grieving or death of a loved one, etc.

*Note.* O1 = Organization 1.

Bank Managers must demonstrate that influential leaders can communicate effectively, motivate their team, hand and delegate responsibilities, listen to feedback, and have the flexibility to solve problems in a constantly changing workplace. The workplace culture theme confirms the conclusions of Lee et al. (2022) that organizational embeddedness represents a constellation of influences that keep people in their current organization. Furthermore, this theme confirms the tenets of the job embeddedness theory; employees who commit to the organization are desirable workers who perform well and are willing to stay (Lee et al., 2022)

## **Theme 6: Workplace Culture**

According to Contreras (2022) O1 ranks #9 with respect to Forbes Global 2000
List 2022; despite challenges bought on by the pandemic, ongoing war and unpredictable markets, the world's largest companies managed to increase sales and profits last year. P2 explained that the organization's culture is the cornerstone of its success since each organization has its own distinctive beliefs, practices, and values that contribute to its overall success. P1asserted, "Workplace culture is critical to employee retention and the general success of the organization, as it helps the organization achieve its goals and objectives. Considering that prospective employees examine the organization and its environment before applying for a position, the study results imply that an organization's culture attracts highly competent personnel." P1 stated, "Continuing on-the-job training

programs, such as computer-based training, are available to managers and their subordinates who are obliged to participate in one every month to maintain and improve their abilities and skills. The continuous training is part of the culture of O1, formed by the management to assist in developing their employees' professional careers." P2 explained how continuous training takes place within the internal academy. "This may be a significant selling factor for individuals interested in joining the organization since they will be more motivated to work in an environment that encourages them to develop their talents." P3 stated, "A training culture provides encouragement to more qualified and talented people to remain committed to organization, which will benefit the whole organization. This is because skilled employees want to continue developing their abilities and find no need to leave their current employer."

P2 explained how employee retention might be improved by establishing open forums and focus groups where employees can express their concerns about their well-being. Bank employees have a favorable opinion of an organization's culture if they believe that the corporation cares about their mental and emotional well-being, which is particularly important in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. The forums and focus groups are designed to guarantee that employees feel comfortable and that they can express themselves freely and openly which boosts employee retention as employees feel more comfortable and secure in their work environment.

According to the study's findings, organization O1provides incentives to retain competent employees who have been with the company for more than 5 years (P2). P3 stated, "This strategy has proven effective because most employees have committed to

organization O1. P4 explained how incentives such as days off, paid leave flexibility, and promotions are utilized to attract and retain employees. Managers select candidates for promotion based on their dedication to and involvement in the training programs, which are conducted by training academies. P3 stated, "Caregiver services for nursing moms are provided by O1 so that mothers can utilize the additional time to respond to client needs. The paid leave incentive encourages employees to maintain a good work-life balance by allowing them to manage their personal lives while still receiving paid time off."

P1 and P2 guaranteed that staff turnover is decreased due to this change in corporate culture. P2 asserted that a culture of open communication and openness is recommended because it has shown to be beneficial to an organization. In addition, P3 asserted that, if employees are provided knowledge about the organization, managers can retain highly talented staff while encouraging them to grow and develop professionally. My research findings show that because of the open communication and general openness, the employees feel they are a part of the O1 and have a voice in decision making, which encourages them to remain with the bank. P4 explained how using employee satisfaction surveys in the workplace is a workplace practice. The employee satisfaction surveys are anonymous; the employees are inclined to provide honest feedback about the services and the company. The employee satisfaction surveys provide employees with a platform to inform the managers what should be improved and what is working to ensure employee satisfaction and retention. P4 explained how clearly defining the goals and explaining objectives to the team ensures that every employee understands what is expected of them and what results the leaders expect. P2 explained how setting

and enforcing deadlines helps keep the team on track and moving forward. P3 asserted that one way they achieve this is by regularly checking in on each employee's progress and assisting them in resolving any issues before they become significant.

In summary, a healthy work-life balance could be achieved if employees have the time and flexibility to pursue interests outside work, attend appointments, and care for their families. Depending on the industry, some companies may be unable to accommodate flexible work schedules. Employees may be required to be present at the place of business at specific times during the day. However, there may still be ways in which a manager can provide flexibility, such as allowing employees to work from home intermittently. Table 7 contains a summary of statements made by participants concerning workplace culture.

 Table 7

 Participant Comments for Theme 6: Workplace Culture

Participant	Example participant comment
P1	Culture and leadership style are strategies to develop to retain skilled employees.
P2	Allowing employees, the opportunity to share in the company's growth and decision-making makes employees feel valued.
Р3	Competitive salaries demonstrate appreciation and respect. The results of increased productivity and a feeling of stability are a win-win for managers and the employees they lead.
P4	Investing in high performers and recognition are commonly utilized within O1. Such as stock options and an attractive benefits package.

*Note*. O1 = Organization 1.

# **Applications to Professional Practice**

The findings from this study are part of a strategic approach used to reduce turnover in a company. Through this approach, it is then pivotal and applicable in professional practice, especially among the managers, to integrate techniques that enhance the performance of the employees. Concerning the findings, employee motivation indicates a critical insight. When your staff accomplishes something correctly, express your gratitude to them. Congratulate them when they complete a massive, challenging project or submit a project before the deadline has passed. Demonstrate to them that you appreciate their efforts. Please don't feel obligated to lavish praise on your staff for everything they accomplish from now on. Expressing gratitude to employees for little, routine chores is not necessary. However, employees should be recognized when they do something deserving of recognition. The idea here is to create a supportive and uplifting atmosphere. Employees who feel valued, recognized, wanted, and driven are more likely to remain with a company than those who do not. The best part is that this way of lowering employee turnover is entirely free.

### **Implications for Social Change**

The findings from this study account for the possibility that the results would influence social change and behavior; the implications are presented in tangible benefits to people, communities, organizations, institutions, cultures, or societies. Management techniques differ, yet all managers try to maintain the number of personnel on their payrolls (Harvey et al., 2018). It is vital for banks and other organizations to retain their personal to guarantee continuing development. When a corporation continually loses and

gains employees, it must depend on individuals who are not entirely competent to execute their tasks (Harvey et al., 2018).

Work environments should be efficient, and their level of flexibility should be increased. Employees should be allowed to take time off from work to spend time with their families due to the flexibility. When employees return to work, the management can ensure that they can concentrate on their jobs without being distracted by other issues (Caleb et al., 2021). Furthermore, their productivity increases, and they can achieve more significant results in their existing position at the company. Many employees' working circumstances may be improved by inspiring them, something we as managers can do. When employees get little comments regularly, they feel better about their appearance and abilities (Caleb et al., 2021).

According to my research, employees with higher self-esteem are more likely to have a favorable attitude toward their professions. P4 explained how consequently, employees who have a positive attitude will be mirrored in the way they interact with the clients. Because of bank managers' efforts to promote self-service to customers through technology, a strong workforce is required to educate customers on how to navigate their way around the self-service programs and applications provided by the financial institutions. According to the P1 customers are eager to engage in self-service programs if they are educated about their options by staff who are satisfied and excited about their employment (P1). Companies are encouraged to ensure that their teams are in peak physical shape when they come to work to maximize productivity and improve customer service (Harvey et al., 2018). If the bank managers can determine what the employees

need by review of the feedback from employee satisfaction surveys, the managers can guarantee that the banks' activities are appealing to the entire workforce and clients (P4).

### **Recommendations for Action**

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore strategies that bank managers require to retain skilled employees. According to current research, the plethora of small systems, processes, and workarounds that long-time employees build over time because of their on-the-job experiences allow most organizations to operate smoothly and effectively (Caleb et al., 2021). Most of these impromptu systems and processes are not recorded or written down in any form. Whenever highly skilled employees depart, production decreases considerably. Retaining experienced personnel increases the efficiency of an organization while also enhancing the quality of the goods and services that the business produces or makes available to customers (Caleb et al., 2021). Consequently, top executives in most organizations are concerned about decreasing staff turnover.

Most researchers who conduct studies on the issue of attrition are primarily interested in the reasons for this phenomenon. It is also necessary to examine why some employees remain in their positions, and to discover the reasons why they remain in their positions. Managers may then be able to identify the factors that lead to long-term retention of employees and improve those factors to encourage more employees to remain to remain in the future. Researchers should examine enterprises with the greatest levels of employee retention and identify the factors that encourage employees to remain in such organizations to improve the quality of their study findings. It is also

recommended that the research be extended to include the managers who will be able to explain the strategies that were used to achieve low turnover rates.

Researchers should not only investigate measures to prevent employee turnover but should also investigate show managers and organizations can recover from employee turnover. Numerous organizations are experiencing difficulties as a result of this problem, and the identification of rapid recovery options may enable many of these enterprises to regain their footing. Furthermore, the study undertaken on this issue should be adequately replicated to ensure that the conclusions gained are accurate and can be applied to the solutions under consideration. In addition to motivators and rewards, researchers should consider other elements that determine occupational embeddedness. Researchers may choose to research a larger sample of the workforce to widen the scope of their current findings.

All employees in all industries put a high value on job security. Therefore, it is vital to always ensure their safety. Employee motivation is crucial when it comes to boosting the overall quality of the service (Monica et al., 2021). In turn, increased self-esteem also increases employees' positive attitudes, which is a consequence of motivation. When employees are regularly educated about bank systems and how they function, their self-esteem may also increase. Well-informed employees will have no difficulty in addressing clients' queries, because they will not be paralyzed by the fear of not knowing how to deal with or address various issues when forced to think on their feet (Monica et al., 2021). This is positive for a bank since it ensures that their clients will always be satisfied with the effectiveness of the personnel (Monica et al., 2021).

Because bank employees are constantly in contact with clients, their recommendations should be considered during decision making, (Monica et al., 2021). Idea generation should not be delegated to board members or management who have minimal interaction with the consumers they serve. Instead, employees should be allowed to express their opinions on how operations may be improved to guarantee that everyone benefits and is satisfied with the results (Monica et al., 2021). When the bank's management actively listens to employees, they demonstrate respect for the employees and their recommendations. If employees provide the ideas for improvements, they are more likely to be significantly engaged in the execution of those changes (Monica et al., 2021).

#### **Recommendation 1: Effective Communication**

The ability to communicate effectively is critical for the success of any company. It is imperative to communicate effectively with colleagues, customers, and supervisors, both verbally and nonverbally (Stange et al., 2018). The use of nonverbal communication in effective communication is extremely important. It has been noticed that employees are often intimidated by their supervisors. Communication becomes more difficult due to employees' trepidation about approaching the leader with an idea, an issue, or a request for expert help (Stange et al., 2018). Leaders have to make every effort to guarantee that they are continually in touch with their workforce. They should also establish forums and platforms where employees can air their grievances and open communication with their superiors, if necessary (Stange et al., 2018). Open lines of communication add to

employees' comfort level since they know they can speak out in the event of any issues (Stange et al.,2018).

Leaders can assist their teams to communicate more effectively by approaching the efforts and contributions of all their employees. When new hires arrive at the financial institution, employees can welcome them (Hudson & Steve, 2019). As part of this effort, leaders should strive to guarantee efficient communication in their organizations. Efficient communication among employees improves productivity and enhances the working atmosphere for all. Employee communication channels can be improved by creating events where employees convene and communicate in a positive environment (Hudson & Steve, 2019). Team building exercises, for example, may teach employees how to communicate with one another while simultaneously providing an opportunity for enjoyment. Employees can learn more about their colleagues from various departments through activities done in groups. This can also result in long-lasting friendships, which are vital to increasing cohesiveness at work.

### **Recommendation 2: Humility in Leadership Culture**

Bank managers should be humble and amenable to being readily approached (Hudson & Steve, 2019). When employees are confronted by a crisis, arrogant leaders are less likely to be approached for help than other leaders (Hudson & Steve, 2019). On the other hand, lower their voices and be more receptive to hearing what their colleagues have to say. Because staff deal with consumers regularly, their ideas may make a significant impact in terms of enhancing customer satisfaction levels. They should also

have the opportunity to submit input on current policies and recommendations for possible modifications to improve the bank's operations.

In addition, humble leaders are able to accept input from their staff, no matter how great or bad the feedback is (Harvey et al., 2018). When leaders perform well, their subordinates should be allowed to show their appreciation to them for the outstanding work the leaders have accomplished. Even the most senior executives can make errors that can have a detrimental effect on the bank's operations (Harvey et al., 2018). The leaders must be prepared to accept negative feedback from their staff. Suggestion boxes should be used when employees are hesitant to communicate directly with their managers (Harvey et al., 2018). Leaders who show their employees that they are willing to listen to their problems benefit their company's bottom line. Positive relationships and an atmosphere of trust are established between employees and their supervisors, which results in a more positive workplace environment.

### **Recommendation 3: Customer Involvement in Operations**

Customers are, without a doubt, the most vital aspect of every company's operation. They decide whether a company will survive in the long-term or if it will fold as it expands. Consequently, their input must be rapidly addressed (Anderson & Warren, 2018). Since other policies impact personnel and operations, customers are the most direct beneficiaries of these policies. Any modifications made have an impact on customers, either directly or indirectly (Anderson & Warren, 2018). This implies that customers should be allowed to express their opinions on how they were treated and how they believe they may be better served in the future.

It is prudent to include customers in the process since they expose banks to new ideas they would not encounter otherwise. Moreover, the financial institutions will be able to assess their activities from a fresh perspective (Anderson & Warren, 2018). The fact that many organizations have started to allow their employees to provide feedback has resulted in several adjustments and increased customer satisfaction among the general public. Consequently, increasing customer engagement in operations may result in more positive improvements because of greater participation (Anderson & Warren, 2018). If employees believe that their voices have been heard and their issues have been addressed, they are more likely to trust an organization. This means that the bank will be able to retain its customers in the long-term allowing it to outperform the competition.

## **Recommendation 3: Investing in Staff Education**

As the financial sector continues to expand and grow, so must the knowledge and skill sets of the individuals who work in it (Caleb et al., 2021). It is critical for those who work in the field to remain informed of changes in laws and regulations and to master the ever-changing environment in which they work. For this purpose, more training may be beneficial. Continuing employee education will expand and deepen their expertise, which will eventually improve the customer experience and increase the company's overall productivity (Caleb et al., 2021).

Leaders can create a clear path forward to inspire employees to work toward their goals and secure their organizational positions (Caleb et al., 2021). Employees who are encouraged in their work will be more motivated in their jobs, which will result in higher productivity in the organization (Caleb et al., 2021). Leaders can establish training

programs to aid their employees in reaching their goals. Employees could be trained on the most effective strategies for achieve their goals via training programs. Leadership mentoring is essential to ensure that the working relationship between leaders and their employees continues to improve.

# **Recommendation 4: Providing Acknowledgment**

It is critical for any financial or bank employee to get favorable customer feedback, but it is equally essential for the employer to convey positive recognition when it is due (Stange et al., 2018). Whether offered by a team leader or a fellow employee, a pat on the back can do wonders for raising morale and inspiring people to continue working hard and being loyal to the company (Stange et al., 2018). In addition to assisting in putting a light on desired behavior, the values-based recognition platform also aided in strengthening employee engagement and connections while increasing employee relationships (Stange et al., 2018)

Recognition may be shown in various ways, one of which is via social media. An employee communications platform, such as one provided by a company, may allow employees to interact with one another by exchanging comments or offering "likes." A culture of thankfulness may be fostered via this media, which can also contribute to a positive work environment (Stange et al., 2018). Employee appreciation initiatives are another option available to financial organizations. Employees who have made significant contributions to the achievement of the organization's objectives demonstrated the organization's values or gone above and beyond to assist a client will be rewarded under the program, which will be implemented in conjunction with an employee

appreciation program, among other things (Stange et al., 2018). Finally, thank-you notes, and cards can be utilized to convey gratitude and show appreciation. Because it is a simple but effective method of thanking employees and fostering communication among colleagues, sending electronic greeting cards (eCards) is becoming more popular (Stange et al., 2018). A higher level of morale within a team or among employees will improve their feeling of belonging and can assist managers to meet their retention (Stange et al., 2018).

## Recommendation 5: Have an Engaging and Exciting Workplace

An employee dedicates a significant portion of their life to the position they hold in a company (Harvey et al., 2018). Employees should find meaning in their work and enjoy working at a company if they are to continue investing their time and future into it (Harvey et al., 2018). Employers and leaders must express their enthusiasm for the company and inform employees of its potential so that the company will become a project that employees are proud to be a part of (Harvey et al., 2018). This will not only influence customer service positively since the employee will be representing the business to customers, but will also assist them in buying into the position, resulting in a greater emotional connection to their job. (Harvey et al., 2018).

It is possible that working for a company that is pleasurable work for is an incentive that is almost as potent as the money and benefits (Harvey et al., 2018). Since developing emotional connections is essential, team-building activities are not merely a means of encouraging staff to work more effectively during working hours, but also a means of convening the staff for an enjoyable experience (Harvey et al., 2018).

According to the findings of this research, maintaining a regular schedule of social events may also have a positive impact on staff retention rates.

## **Recommendations for Further Research**

I conducted a qualitative case study on strategies bank managers can use to decrease the turnover of skilled employees and enhance their commitment to the organization for more than 5 years. The population for the study consisted of four bank managers in the southeastern United States, specifically the state of Virginia; the small sample size is one of the limitations of this study. Although many variables might affect employee commitment strategies, participants shared information during each interview about their personal experiences. Because employee commitment and effective talent management are vital components to the success of an organization, future researchers should be inclined to continue exploring other strategies required to reduce employee turnover to increase commitment. Further research from the employee's point of view may increase saturation and findings. Additionally, future researchers can use mixed methods and conduct qualitative interviews with a larger population to test the correlation between variables of each theme identified in this study. Future researchers who interview employees may offer a new insight, hierarchical perspectives, and understanding of the scholarly knowledge of strategies required to reduce the turnover of skilled employees while increasing their commitment to the organization.

#### Reflections

Attaining a doctorate in philosophy has long been a personal goal, and the process has been both difficult and rewarding. No preconceived notions about the doctorate

program or the procedure need to be dispelled before beginning the program. I constantly why organizations do not attempt to retain skilled employees during economic downtimes such as the financial crisis of 2008. Obtaining a Doctor of Business Administration degree allowed a fantastic opportunity to do research relevant to this problem. The training is quite challenging, and the program's cost is far more costly than I had imagined when I began working on it. My educational duties clashed with my family, work, and other commitments that took up a significant portion of my time and energy. Regardless, no matter how much time and money have been invested, this pursuit has a rewarding outcome in the end. A doctorate may be obtained via this endeavor, which will also be a rewarding and meaningful experience for the participants. Earning a Doctor of Business Administration degree is significant in any discipline, but it is especially noteworthy in business. Students are exposed to a more complex level of reasoning due to the coursework. I consider it a privilege to accomplish this level of education, and it has been a great experience; I am glad that I accepted the challenge. An essential component of the educational experience is learning about new and different disciplines. The aid offered during this attempt made a dream a reality for the participants. My committee chair is extremely knowledgeable about business management, and she has been a significant source of help throughout this process. Completing a doctoral degree signifies a large step forward in one's career. The exploration process provides significant insight into corporate business environments. Learning about leadership strategies and employee retention from the perspective of a bank manager is equally valuable for the participants. I have obtained useful information

from this journey to prepare for my future endeavors. There is also a need for further research on job satisfaction and employee retention, as well as the relationship between these aspects and employee turnover. My recommendation is that further research should be done on other factors that impact turnover and retention. For example, demographic elements should be investigated. Immediately after introducing retention requirements, I strongly encourage businesses to analyze how their workplace cultures have changed.

#### Conclusion

Every company's existence is dependent on its ability to attract and retain qualified employees, in addition to the technology that is the driving force behind the development of most business strategies required to keep the business operating (Coetzer et al. 2019). Since every economic sector is expanding, there is a lot of competition in the marketplace. As a result of this growth and competitiveness, there are a plethora of pathways and possibilities for business management professionals. Currently, the management of these employees and the retention of skilled employees are the most taxing problem that organizations are now confronted with. The ability of any organization to recruit and retain qualified and skilled employees is vital to its ability to compete globally. Another issue that companies are confronted with currently is to ensure that their employees are continually satisfied with their jobs and employers. As a result of the importance and sensitivity of the employee retention issue to any organization, the present research sought to assess the various literature review studies on employee retention as well as the factors that impact employee retention and career development among employees.

It is difficult to comprehend the complexities of employee retention. Essentially, these resources strongly impact a company's ability to succeed. It is essential to retain them since they will contribute to the organization's long-term success and improve goodwill in the community. The most difficult challenge a corporation has today is to ensure that these resources are sustained and fulfilled simultaneously. Although the author made every effort to provide a complete summary of the numerous research studies undertaken and contributions from various researchers to employee retention and job satisfaction, there is still more work to be done in this area. Employee turnover may be decreased by considering aspects such as incentive systems, leadership and supervision, training and development, alternate work hours and working conditions, and other variables. Bank managers must develop strategies to improve these activities. The solutions presented in this section may also help reduce excessive personnel turnover rates in an organization.

#### References

- Abdalla, M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulations as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa*, 19(1), 66-98. https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Adamska-Chudzińska, M. (2020). Employee retention management in the context of situational leadership. *Nierówności Społeczne a Wzrost Gospodarczy*, 62, 214-227. <a href="https://doi.org/10.15584/nsawg.2020.2.14">https://doi.org/10.15584/nsawg.2020.2.14</a>
- Adomako, S., & Nguyen, N.P. (2020). Human resource slack, sustainable innovation, and environmental performance of small and medium-sized enterprises in sub-Sharan Africa. *Business Strategy & the environment (John Wiley & sons, Inc), 29*(8), 2984-2994. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2552
- Afsar, B., Cheema, S., & Bin Saeed, B. (2018). Do nurses display innovative work behavior when their values match with hospitals' values? *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 21(1), 157-171. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3917/jie.pr1.0105">https://doi.org/10.3917/jie.pr1.0105</a>
- Ahmad, I., Danish, R. Q., Ali, S. A., Ali, H. F., & Humayon, A. A. (2019). A comparative study of banking industry based on appraisal system, rewards and employee performance. *SEISENSE Journal of Management*, 2(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.33215/sjom.v2i1.64
- Ahn, T., & Menichinl, A. A. (2022). Optimal talent management of the acquisition workforce in response to COVID-19: Dynamic programming approach. *Defense Acquisition Research Journal*, 29(1), 50-77. https://doi.org/10.22594/dau.21-

## 871.29.01

- Anderson, H., & Warren, W. A. (2018). Invigorate your company culture Why incentives for employees are important for success | Blackhawk network. <a href="https://blackhawknetwork.com/uk-en/resources/incentives-for-employees">https://blackhawknetwork.com/uk-en/resources/incentives-for-employees</a>
- Anteby, M., & Bechky, B. A. (2016). Editorial essay: How workplace ethnographies can inform the study of work and employment relations. *Industrial & Labour Relations Review*, 69, 501-505. https://doi.org/10.1177/0019793915621746
- Areiqat, A. Y., Mahrakani, N. J., Zamil, A. M., & Abu-Rumman, A. (2019). The role of strategies for promoting relations between banks and customers, and their impact on customer retention and the market share of Jordanian commercial banks.

  \*\*Academy of Accounting and Financial Studies Journal, 23(5), 1-10.\*\*

  https://www.abacademies.org/articles/the-role-of-strategies-for-promoting-relations-between-banks-and-customers-and-their-impact-on-customer-retention-and-the-market-s-8680.html
- Aris, N. A., Arif, S. M. M., Othman, R., & Zain, M. M. (2015). Fraudulent financial statement detection using statistical techniques: The case of small-medium automotive enterprise. *The Journal of Applied Business Research*, 31(4), 1469-1478. <a href="https://doi.org/10.19030/jabr.v31i4.9330">https://doi.org/10.19030/jabr.v31i4.9330</a>
- Arsel, Z. (2017). Asking questions with reflexive focus: A tutorial on designing and conducting interviews. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *44*(4), 939–948. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucx096
- Asmat, N. K., Ramzan, S., & Chaudhry, A. R. (2015). Organization development through

- effective hiring system: A phenomenological study of business organizations. *The Journal of Commerce*, 7(4), 152-168.
- https://content.ebscohost.com/ContentServer.asp?T=P&P=AN&K=116779148&S
  =R&D=bth&EbscoContent=dGJyMNHr7ESeqa84yOvqOLCmsEqeqK9Ss6m4T
  K%2BWxWXS&ContentCustomer=dGJyMPGss0q1qK5IuePfgeyx44Dt6fIA
- Bahadur, W., Khan, A. N., Ali, A., & Usman, M. (2020). Investigating the effect of employee empathy on service loyalty: The mediating role of trust in and satisfaction with a service employee. *Journal of Relationship Marketing*, 19(3), 229-252. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332667.2019.1688598
- Bansal, P., Smith, W. K., & Vaara, E. (2018). New ways of seeing through qualitative research. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(4), 1189-1195. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.4004
- Barkhulzen, N.E., & Gumede, B. (2021). The relationship between talent management, job satisfaction, and voluntary turnover intentions of employees in a selected government institution. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management,* 19(1), 1-2. https://doi.org/10.4102/sjhrm.v1910.1396
- Barnham, C. (2015). Quantitative and qualitative research. *International Journal of Market Research*, *57*(6), 837-854. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2501/IJMR-2015-070">https://doi.org/10.2501/IJMR-2015-070</a>
- Behravesh, E., Tanova, C., & Abubakar, A. M. (2020). Do high-performance work systems always help to retain employees or is there a dark side? *The Service Industries Journal*, 40(11-12), 825-845.
  - https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2019.1572748

- Bennett, S., Ozawa, S., Rodriguez, D., Paul, A., Singh, K. & Singh, S. (2015).

  Monitoring and evaluating transition and sustainability of donor-funded programs: Reflections on the Avahan experience. *Evaluation & Program Planning*. 52, 148-158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2015.05.003
- Bibi, P., Ahmad, A., & Majid, A. H. A. (2018). The impact of training and development and supervisor support on employee retention in academic institutions: The moderating role of work environment. *Gadjah Mada International Journal of Business*, 20(1), 113-131. <a href="https://doi.org/10.22146/gamaijb.24020">https://doi.org/10.22146/gamaijb.24020</a>
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802-1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blount, B., Jacob, S., Weeks, P., & Jepson, M. (2015). Testing cognitive ethnography:

  Mixed methods in developing indicators of well-being in fishing communities.

  Human Organization, 74, 1-15. https://www.sfaa.net/
- Boudreaux, C.J. (2021). Employee compensation and new venture performance: Does benefit type matter? Small business Economics, 57(3), 1453-1477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-00357-5
- Brattström, A., & Faems, D. (2020). Interorganizational relationships as political battlefields: How fragmentation with organizations shapes relational dynamics between organizations. *Academy of Management Journal*, *63*, 1590-1620. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.0038
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods (5th ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Carlini, J., Grace, D., France, C., & LoIacono J. (2019). The corporate social responsibility (CSR) employer brand Process: integrative review and comprehensive model. *Journal of Marketing Management*, *35*(1/2), 182-205. https://doi.org/10.1080/267257x.2019.1569549
- Cable, D. (2018). Listen. Learn. Livberate. Successful leadership involves giving employees the scope to explore, experiment and improve. It's not about control, says Dan Cable. *London business school Review, 29*(1),6-9.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/2057-1615.12205">https://doi.org/10.1111/2057-1615.12205</a>
- Caleb, H., Kevin, S., & Stuart, D. (2021). Managing for employee retention. https://doi.org/10.1145/3147.365
- Cassell, C. (2018). Pushed beyond my comfort zone: MBA student experiences of conducting qualitative research. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 17, 119–136.doi.org/10.5465/amle.2015.0016
- Cavalcanti, M. F. R. (2017). Guidelines for qualitative research in organization studies:

  Controversy and possibilities. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa*, 18, 457-488.

  https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2017.v18n3.522
- Chordiya, R., Sabharwal, M., & Goodman, D. (2017). Affective Organization

  Commitment and Job Satisfaction: A Cross-National Comparative Study. Public

  Administration, 95, 178-195. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12306">https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12306</a>
- Coetzer, A., Inma, C., Poisat, P., Redmond, J., &Standing, C. (2019). Does job embeddedness predicts turnover intentions in SMEs? *International Journal of Productivity & Performance Management*, 68(2), 340-361.

- https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-03-2018-0108
- Contreraras, I. (2022). Forbes global 2000 List 2022: The Top 200. Forbes.com, N.PAG.
- Cote, R. (2019). Motivating multigenerational employees: Is there a difference? *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics, 16*(2), 15-19. https://doi.org/10.33423/jlae.v1612.2018
- Dalkin, S., Forster, N., Hodgson, P., Lhussler, M., & Carr, S. M. (2021). Using computer assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS; NVIvo) to assist in the complex process of realist theory generation, refinement and testing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 24(1), 123-134. https://doi.org/1.1080/13645579.2020.1803528
- Dols, J. D., Chargualaf, K. A., & Martinez, K. S. (2019). Cultural and generational considerations in RN retention. *JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 49(4), 201-207. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.000000000000000738
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Fletcher, A. J. (2017). Applying critical realism in qualitative research: Methodology meets method. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20, 181-194. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.1144401
- Flynn, S. V., Korcuska, J. S., Brady, N. V., & Hays, D. G. (2019). A 15-year content analysis of three qualitative research traditions. *Counselor Education & Supervision*, *58*(1), 49–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/ceas.12123

- Foo, J., & Witkowska, D. (2017). A comparison of global financial market recovery after the 2008 global financial crisis. *Folia Oeconomica Stetinensia*, *17*, 109-128. https://doi.org/10.1515/foli-2017-0009
- Frega, R. (2021). Employee involvement and workplace democracy. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 31(3), 360-385. https://doi.org/10.1017/beq.2020.30
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report, 20*, 1408-1416.

  <a href="https://openview/8089d53e357617d261288a7a5cee5dc6/1?pq-">https://openview/8089d53e357617d261288a7a5cee5dc6/1?pq-</a>
  origsite=gscholar&cbl=55152
- Gan, J. L., & Yusof, H. M. (2019). The relationship between training and employees' retention: A review paper. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Management Practices*, 2(5), 16-25.: www.ijemo.com
- Ganic, E., Babi-Hodovic, V., & Arslanagic-Kalajdzic, M. (2018). We are happy here and we will stay, what about you? The cross-level impact of employee loyalty and performance on student loyalty. *Southeast European Journal of Economics & Business (1840118x), 13*(2), 7-18. https://doi.org/10.10.2478/jeb-2018-009
- Galilea, G. W., & Eid Junior, W. (2017). The Competitive Structure and Strategic

  Positioning of the Bank Industry in the Face of Major Environmental

  Disturbances: A Study of Brazilian Banks. *Brazilian Business Review*(Portuguese Edition), 14(4), 368-384. <a href="https://doi.org/10.15728/bbr.2017.14.4.1">https://doi.org/10.15728/bbr.2017.14.4.1</a>
- Gland, H. L. (2019). Closing the change management gap. *Strategic HR Review*, *18*, 168-175. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-04-2019-0030">https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-04-2019-0030</a>

- Guercini, S. (2014). New qualitative research methodologies in management.

  Management Decision, 52, 662-674. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-11-2013-0592
- Guest, G., Namey, E., Taylor, J., Eley, N., & McKenna, K. (2017). Comparing focus groups and individual interviews: Findings from a randomized study. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20, 693–708. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2017.1281601
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(5), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Hafeez, M., Jamali, I., Hussain, A., & Yasin, I. M. (2020). Roles of human resource practices in enhancing employee retention: Evidence from banking sector of Shaheed Benazirabad, Pakistan. *International Transaction Journal of Engineering Management & Applied Sciences & Technologies.11*, 8.
   https://doi.org/10.14456/ITJEMAST.2020.152
- Hameed, M., Haider, S., & Kantarci, B. (2017). Performance impacts of hybrid cloud storage. *Computing*, *99*, 1207–1229. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00607-017-0560-y
- Hancock, D., & Algozzine, B. (2017). Doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hannah, D. P., Eisenhardt, K. M., & Tidhar, R. (2018). The Value of Formal Models for Management Theory. *Academy of Management Annual Meeting Proceedings*, 2018(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2018.195

- Harunavamwe, M., Pillay, D., & Nel, P. (2020). The influence of psychological capital and self-leadership strategies on job embeddedness in the banking industry. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management*, 18(1),1-11.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v18i0.1294">https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v18i0.1294</a></a>
- Harvey, F., Ronalds, Y., & Houston, D. (2018). Ten ways to retain great employees |

  First financial bank. <a href="https://www.bankatfirst.com/business/resources/flourish/ten-ways-retain-great-employees.html">https://www.bankatfirst.com/business/resources/flourish/ten-ways-retain-great-employees.html</a>
- Hassan, M. M., Jambulingam, M., Alam, M. N., & Islam, M. S. (2019). Redesigning the retention strategy against the emerging turnover of generation Y: Revisiting the long-standing problems from 20th to 21st century. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 23(2), 1-16.
   <a href="https://www.abacademies.org/articles/Redesigning-the-retention-strategy-against-the-emerging-turnover-of-generation-y-revisiting-the-long-standing-problems-from-20-to-21-century-1939-4675-23-2-268.pdf">https://www.abacademies.org/articles/Redesigning-the-long-standing-problems-from-20-to-21-century-1939-4675-23-2-268.pdf</a>
- Hays, D. G. & McKibben, W. B. (2021). Promoting Rigorous Research: Generalizability and Qualitative Research. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 99(2), 178-188. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12365
- Hays, D. G., Wood, C., Dahl, H., & Kirk-Jenkins, A. (2016). Methodological rigor in journal of counseling & development qualitative research articles: A 15-year review. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 94, 172-183. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12074
- Hearit, L. B. (2018). JPMorgan Chase, Bank of America, Wells Fargo, and the financial

- crisis of 2008. *International Journal of Business Communication, 55*, 237-260. https://doi.org/10.1177/232948841753952
- Heliot, Y., Gleibs, I. H., Coyle, A., Russeau, D. M., & Rojon, C. (2020). Religious identity in the workplace: A systematic review, research agenda, and practical implications. *Human Resource Management*, *59*(2), 153-173. https://doi.org/10.1002/173. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21983
- Hess, M. F., & Cottrell, J. H. (2016). Fraud risk management: A small business perspective. *Business Horizons*, *59*, 13-18. https.doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2015.09.005
- Hidenori, S. (2016). Generalization is everything, or is it? Effectiveness of case study research for theory construction. *Annals of Business Administrative Science*, 15, 49-58. https://doi.org/10.7880/abas.0151203<sup>a</sup>
- Howard, A. L. (2019, July 20). How important is continuous training to your employees? https://www.recruiter.com/i/how-important-is-continuous-training-to-employees/
- Hudson, H., & Steve, A. (2019, May 31). (PDF) A review of literature on employee retention. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4233/">https://doi.org/10.4233/</a>
- Hristov, I., Chirico, A., & Ranalll, F. (2022). Corporate strategies oriented towards sustainable governance: Advantages, managerial practices and main challenges.

  Journal of Management & Governance, 26(1), 75-97.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10997-021-09581-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10997-021-09581-x</a>
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice. *Information Technology & People*, 31, 111-133. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168

- Irabor, I. E., & Okolie, U. C. (2019). A Review of Employees' Job Satisfaction and its Effect on their Retention. *Annals of Spiru Haret University, Economic Series*, 19(2), 93-114. https://doi.org/10.26458/1924
- Jaharuddin, N. S. & Zalnol, L. N. (2019). The impact of work-life balance on job engagement and turnover intention. Southeast Asian Journal of Management, 13(1), 106-117. https://doi.org/10.21002/seam.v1311.10912
- Javadian, G., Gupta, A., & Knights, A. R. (2016). Qualitative research in entrepreneurship: Current research practices and suggestions for the future. *Academy of Management Annual Meeting Proceedings*, 2016, 118–123. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2016.137
- Jerry, H. M. (2018, May 14). The importance of continuous training for employees. https://doi.org/10.6084/
- Jin Xiu Guo. (2019). Measuring Information System Project Success through a Software-Assisted Qualitative Content Analysis. *Information Technology & Libraries*, 38(1), 53–70. <a href="https://doi.org/10.6017/ital.v38i1.10603">https://doi.org/10.6017/ital.v38i1.10603</a>
- Jindal, P., & Shaikh, M. (2021). Talent retention: A mediator of the relationship between talent management strategies and succession planning. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 26(2), 117-142. https://doi.org/10.21315/aamj2021.26.2.6
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Johnson, M. S., & Lipsiz, M. (2022). Why are low-wage workers signing noncompete

- agreements? *Journal of Human Resources*, *57*(3), 869-724. https://doi.org/10.3368/jhr.57.3.0619-10274R2
- Kellam, N., & Cirell, A. M. (2018). Quality considerations in qualitative inquiry:
   Expanding Our understandings for the broader dissemination of qualitative research. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 107.
   https://doi.org/10.1002/jee.20227
- Keller, J. r. (2018). Posting and Slotting: How hiring Processes shape the quality of Hir and compensation in internal labor markets. Adminstrative Science Quarterly, 63, 848-878. https://doi.org/10.1177/0001839217736045
- Khalid, K., & Nawab, S. (2018). Employee participation and employee retention in view of compensation. *SAGE Open*, 8(4), 2158244018810067
- Kim, H., Batten, J. A., & Ryu, D. (2020). The financial crisis, bank diversification, and financial stability: OECD countries. *International Review of Economics & Finance*, 65, 94-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iref.2019.08.009
- Köhler, T. (2016). From the Editors: On writing up qualitative research in management learning and education. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, *15*, 400–418. https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2016.0275
- Krémer, V. (2019). The impact of CSR on job satisfaction and employee retention in Hungarian hotels. In *International dimensions of sustainable management* (pp. 307-327). Springer, Cham
- Kurdi, B., & Alshurideh, M. (2020). Employee retention and organizational performance: Evidence from banking industry. *Management Science Letters*, 10(16), 3981-

- 3990. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.7.011
- Kurzhals, K., & Weiskopf, D. (2018). Exploring the visualization design space with repertory grids. *Computer Graphics Forum*, *37*, 133–144. https://doi.org/10.1111/cgf.1340
- Lancaster, K. (2017). Confidentiality, anonymity and power relations in elite interviewing; conducting qualitative policy research in a politicised domain. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20, 93–103. https://doi.org/10.1111/cgf.134010.1080/13645579.2015.1123555
- Lanka, E., Lanka, S., Rostron, A., & Singh, P. (2021). Why we need qualitative research in management studies. *RAC-Revista de Adminstração Comtemporanez*, 25(2), 1-7. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021200297.en">https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021200297.en</a>
- Lee, L., & Chen, L. F. (2018). Boosting employee retention through CSR: A configurational analysis. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 25(5), 948-960. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1511
- Lee, J., Oh, S.-H., & Park, S. (2022). Effects of Organizational Embeddedness on Unethical Pro-organizational Behavior: Roles of Perceived Status and Ethical Leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 176(1), 111-125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-020-04661-8
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, *16*, 473-475. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839915580941
- Llopis, J. A. S., Millán, J. M., Baptista, R., Burke, A., Parker, S. C., & Thurik, R. (2015).

- Good times, bad times: Entrepreneurship and the business cycle. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 11, 243-251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-015-0361-8
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016) Designing qualitative research (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Mathafena, R. B., & Grobler, A. (2020). The effectiveness of human resources practices in driving proactive experimentation and risk-taking work behaviours in organisations. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management, 18*(1), 1-11. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102sajhrm.v18i0.1259">https://doi.org/10.4102sajhrm.v18i0.1259</a>
- Mikheeva, O., & Tonurist, P. (2019). Co-creation for the reduction of uncertainty in financial governance: The case of monetary authority of Singapore.

  Halduskulfuur The Estonian Journal of Administrative Culture & Digital governance, 19(2), 60-80. https://doi.org/10.32994/hk.v19I2.199
- Monica, H., Mike, S., & Mercy, D. (2021). Study on Determining Factors of Employee

  Retention. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.31780">https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.31780</a>
- Montani, F., Leon-Perez, J. M., Giorgi, G., & Shoss, M. K. (2020). Appraisal of economic crisis, psychological distress, and work-unit absenteeism: A 1-1-2 model. *Journal of Business & Psychology*, *35*(5), 609-620. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-019-09643-w">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-019-09643-w</a>
- Morgan, K. R. (2020, July 11). Importance of strategic management in an organization.

  <a href="https://www.keka.com/importance-strategic-management">https://www.keka.com/importance-strategic-management</a>
- McLaughlin, J. E., Bush, A. A., & Zeeman, J. M. (2016). Mixed methods: Expanding

- research methodologies in pharmacy education. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 8, 715-721. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2016.06.015
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html">https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html</a>
- Ndlovu, T., Quaye, E. S., & Saini, Y. K. (2021). Predicting organizational commitment:

  The role of the line manager communication, employee trust and job satisfaction.

  South African Journal of business Management, 52(1), 1-11.

  https://doi.org/10.4102/sajbm.v5211.2355
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Ohunakin, F., Adeniji, A. A., Ogunlusi, G., Igbadumhe, F., Salau, O. P., & Sodeinde, A G. (2020). Talent retention strategies and employees' behavioural outcomes:

  Empirical evidence from hospitality industry. Business: Theory & Practice, 21(1), 192-199. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2020.11061
- Ohunakin, F., Adeniji, A. A., Oludayo, O. A., Osibanjo, A. O., & Oduyoye, O. O. (2019).

  Employees' retention in Nigeria's hospitality industry: The role of transformational leadership style and job satisfaction. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, 18, 441-470.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1626795

- Oino, I. (2019). Do disclosure and transparency affect bank's financial performance?

  Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in

  Society. 19,1334-1361. https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-12-2018-0378
- Omoyele, S. O., & Olabisi, J. (2020). Diversity management and performance: Evidence from Nigerian multinational companies. *Economic Review: Journal of Economics & Business*, 18(2), 3144. https://doi.org/10.51558/2303-680X.2020.18.2.31
- Osei, H.V., Osei-Kwame, D., & Osei A., L. (2017). The effects of individual mechanisms on work self-efficacy of nurses; the mediating role of organizational commitment.

  \*International Journal of Healthcare Management, 10, 219-237.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/20479700.2016.1268798
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*, 1-7.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1">https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1</a>
- Parker, R. A. (2019, August 28). Importance of strategic management. https://doi.org/10.1371/journalpone.0115253
- Pathiranage, Y. L., Javatilake, L. V. K., & Abeysekera, R. (2020). Case study research design for exploration of organization culture towards corporate performance.

  \*Review of International, Comparative Management, 2(3), 361-372.

  https://doi.org/10.24818/RMCI.2020.3.361
- Porter, C. M., & Rigby, J. R. (2021). The turnover contagion process: An integrative review of theoretical and empirical research. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 42(2), 212-228. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2483

- Queralto, A. (2020). A model of slow recoveries from financial crises. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 114, 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoneco.2019.03.008
- Rahi, S., Alnaser, F. M. I., & Ghani, M. A. (2019). Designing Survey Research:

  \*Recommendation For Questionnaire Development, Calculating Sample Size And Selecting Research Paradigms. Varazdin: Varazdin Development and Entrepreneurship Agency (VADEA).

  https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/2188521137?accountid=14872
- Resnik, D. B. (2017). The role of intuition in risk/benefit decision-making in human subjects' research. *Accountability in Research: Policies & Quality Assurance*, 24, 1-29. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2016.1198978
- Saeed F., & You, J. (2021). The Influence of Transformation Leadership on Employee

  Retention in Pakistan: Function of Job Embeddedness as Mediator. *International Journal of Management, Accounting & Economics*, 8(12):867-881.

  https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.6390898
- Saunders, M. N. K., & Townsend, K. (2016). Reporting and justifying the number of interview participants in organization and workplace research. *British Journal of Management*, 27, 836–852. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12182
- Sahoo, K. K., Sahoo, C. K., & Tripathy, S. K. (2017). Outcomes of Training and

  Development Measures in Public Sector Banks of India: An

  Overview. *Productivity*, 57, 401-409. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7641-1">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7641-1</a>
- Schriber, S., Bauer, F., & King, D. R. (2019). Organisational Resilience in Acquisition

- Integration-Organisational Antecedents and Contingency effects of Flexibility and redundancy. *Applied Psychology: An International Review, 68*(4), 759-796. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12199
- Shibiti, R. (2019). Satisfaction with retention factors in relation to job embeddedness of public-school teachers. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, 17, 9. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v17i0.1161
- Sindhuja, K., & Subramanian, S. S. (2020). Impact of Work-Life Balance on Employee

  Retention-A Study on Banking Sector. *Management*, 7(3), 78-81.

  https://doi.org/10.34293/management.v7i3.1629
- Singh, D. (2019). A literature review on employee retention with focus on recent trends.

  International Journal of Scientific Research in Science and Technology, 6(1),
  425-431. https://doi.org/10.32628/IJSRST195463
- Spokeviciute, L., Keasey, K., & Vallascas, F. (2019). Do financial crises cleanse the banking industry? Evidence from US commercial bank exits. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 99, 222-236. https://doi.org/10.1016/ji.jbankfin.2018.12.010
- Stange, J., Andrew, S., & Peris, D. (2018). How to improve employee retention: 5 ways to keep your employees. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1037/a0015859">http://doi.org/10.1037/a0015859</a>
- Stensholt, J., & Rattner, N. (2022). Looking for a 100,000 salary? See how much the biggest US Companies Pay Workers; The median worker at Google made nearly \$300,000 in 2021; at the other end was an Aptiv worker in Mexico who took home \$7,400. Wall Street Journal (Online).
  - https://www.proquest.com/newspapers/looking-100-000-salary-see-how-much-

## biggest-u-s/docview/2671809435/se-2?accountid=14872

- Steelman, L.A., & Wolfeld, L. (2018). The manager as coach: The role of feedback orientation. *Journal of Business & Psychology*, *33*(1), 41-53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-016-9473-6
- Suhall, R. (2021, September 04). Rising Attrition or Retaining Talent, What Exactly is the Challenge? Business World. https://www.proquest.com/magazines/rising-attrition-retaining-talent-what-exactly-is/docview/2569059218/se-2?accountid=14872
- Taljaard, A., & Beer, E. (2019). Integrative communication for organisational sustainability—An integrative communication relationship model as communication management tool. *Journal of Public Affairs (14723891)*, *19*(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.1957
- Theodorsson, U., Gudlaugsson, T., & Gudmundsdottir, S. (2022). Talent Managementin the Banking Sector: A Systematic Literature Review. Adminstrative Sciences (2076-3387), N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci12020061
- Tian, H., Shuja Iqbal, S. A., Qalati, S. A., Anwar, F., & Khan, M. A. S. (2020). The impact of transformational leadership on employee retention: Mediation and moderation through organizational citizenship behavior and communication.
  Frontiers in Psychology, 11, 71-78. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00314
- Theodorsson, U., Gudlaugsson, T., & Gudmundsdottir, S. (2022). Talent Managementin the Banking Sector: ASystematic Literature Review. Adminstrative Sciences (2076-3387), N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci12020061

- Tolich, M., Choe, L., Doesburg, A., Foster, A., Shaw, R., & Wither, D. (2017). Teaching research ethics as active learning: Reading Venkatesh and Goffman as curriculum resources. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20, 243–253. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2017.1287870
- Tunio, R. A., Jamali, R. H., Mirani, A. A., Das, G., Laghari, M. A., & Xiao, J. (2020).

  The relationship between corporate social responsibility disclosures and financial performance: A mediating role of employee productivity. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 1-17. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-11247-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-11247-4</a>
- Turner, J. R., & Danks, S. (2014). Case study research: A valuable learning tool for performance improvement professionals. *Performance Improvement*, 53, 24-31. https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21406
- Van De Pas, R., Kolie, D., Delamou, A., & Van Damme, W. (2019). Health workforce development and retention in Guinea: A policy analysis post-Ebola. *Human* resources for health, 17(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-019-0400-6
- Van Zyl, E. S., Mathafena, R. B., & Ras, J. (2017). The development of a talent management framework for the private sector. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management*, 15, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v1510.820
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S. & Young, T. (2018). Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*. 18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7</a>
- Verma, A., & Bagga, R. (2019). Relationship between Work-Life Balance &

- Organisational Commitment: A Study of Public Sector Bank Employees of Punjab. *International Journal of Management, IT and Engineering*, *9*(7), 287-297. https://www.ijmra.us/project%20doc/2019/IJMIE\_JULY2019/IJMRA-15870.pdf
- Vogl, S., Zartler, U., Schmidt, E., & Rieder, I. (2018). Developing an Analytical framework for multiple perspective, qualitative longitudinal interviews (MPQLI). International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 21, 177-190. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2017.1345149
- Wahab, S. N., Rejendran, S.D., & Yeap, SP (2021) Upskilling and Reskilling

  Requirement in Logistics and Supply Chain Industry for the Fourth Revolution.

  Logforum, 17(3), 399-410. https://doi.org/10.17270/J.LOG.2021.606
- Watts, L. L., & M. R. Buckley. 2015. A dual-processing model of moral whistleblowing in organizations. *Journal of Business Ethics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2913-9.
- Watts, L. L., Todd, E. M., Mulhearn, T. J., Medeiros, K. E., Mumford, M. D., & Connelly, S. (2017). Qualitative evaluation methods in ethics education: A systematic review and analysis of best practices. *Accountability in Research:*Policies & Quality Assurance, 24, 225–242.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2016.1274975
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The Art of Coding and Thematic Exploration in Qualitative Research. *International Management Review, 15*, 45-55. http://www.imrjournal.org/uploads/1/4/2/8/14286482/imr-v15n1art4.pdf
  Wójcik, D., & Cojoianu, T. F. (2018). Resilience of the US securities industry to the

- global financial crisis. *Geoforum*, *91*, 182-194. https://doi.org/10.426/me.2020.116083
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case study research and applications: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks: Sage
- Yadav, P., Yadav, A., Bhati, B., & Agarwal, P. (2019). A Study on Employee Retention and Turnover in India
- Yadav, R. K., & Dabhade, N. (2014). Work life balance and job satisfaction among the working women of banking and education sector-A comparative study. *International Letters of Social and Humanistic Sciences*, 21, 181-201. https://doi.org/10.18052/wwwscipress.com/ILSHS.21.181
- Young, N. (2010). Business networks, collaboration and embeddedness in local and extra-local spaces: The case of Port Hardy, Canada. *Sociologia Ruralis*, *50*, 392-408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9523.2010.00521.x
- Yousuf, S., & Siddiqui, D. A. (2019). Factors Influencing Employee Retention: A

  Karachi based comparative study on IT and banking industry. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, 9(1), 42-62.

  https://doi.org/10.5923/j.hrmr.20170703.03
- Zablah, A. R., Carlson, B. D., Donavan, D. T., Maxham, J. G., Brown, T. J. & Maxham, J. G. (2016). A cross-lagged test of the association between customer satisfaction and employee job satisfaction in a relational context. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101, 743-755. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000079
- Zarate, G., & Zambrano, H. (2018). Financial discourse of the 2007-2008 crisis: From

- unpredictability and explosion to predictability. *Sign Systems Studios*, *46*, 282-293. https://doi.org/10.12697/SSS.2018.46.462-3.04
- Zatrick, C. D., Deery, S. J., & Iverson, R. D. (2015). Understanding the determinants of who gets laid off: "Does affective organizational commitment matter?" *Human Resource Management*, *54*, 877-891. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21641">https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21641</a>
- Zhang, G., & Inness, M. (2019). Transformational leadership and employee voice: A model of proactive motivation. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40, 777-790. https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-01-2019-0017/full/html
- Zhang, I.D., Lam, L.W., Dong, L., & Zhu, J. N. Y. (2021). Can Job-Embedded
  Employees Be Satisfied? The Role of Job Crafting and Goal-Striving
  Orientations. *Journal of Business & Psychology*. 25(3).435-447.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-020-09684-6

## Appendix: Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you implemented to ensure that skilled employees are retained with the company beyond 5 years?
- 2. What strategies do you utilize to reduce turnover costs?
- 3. How do you determine the potential relevance and effectiveness of a strategy?
- 4. What sort of continuous in-house or on-the-job training programs do you have?
- 5. What plans do you have to implement pilot programs to reduce the costs of training programs to upgrade employee skills during periods involving employee attrition?
- 6. What incentives are offered to retain skilled employees who have been committed to the organization for more than 5 years?
- 7. What strategies do you utilize to reduce the costs associated with employee layoff procedures?
- 8. What additional information can you provide regarding the reduction of turnover costs and retaining skilled employees beyond 5 years?